https://prism.ucalgary.ca

The Vault

Open Theses and Dissertations

2019-06-18

Whole-Brain Atrophy Rates, Regional Cerebral Blood Flow, and Cognitive Profiles of Transient Ischemic Attack Patients and Controls

Reid, Meaghan

Reid, M. (2019). Whole-Brain Atrophy Rates, Regional Cerebral Blood Flow, and Cognitive Profiles of Transient Ischemic Attack Patients and Controls (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/110510 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Whole-Brain Atrophy Rates, Regional Cerebral Blood Flow, and Cognitive Profiles of Transient Ischemic Attack Patients and Controls

by

Meaghan Reid

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN MEDICAL SCIENCE

CALGARY, ALBERTA

June, 2019

© Meaghan Reid 2019

Abstract

Dementia is one of the most common causes of disability amongst the old and the prevalence is expected to double within the next twenty years. Recent prevention trials have failed to find a cure, likely due to inappropriate trial selection and a lack of reliable outcome measurements. Standardized clinical, demographic, imaging and neuropsychological biomarkers will improve selection criteria and therapeutic interventions. Transient ischemic attack (TIA) patients are at an increased risk of late-life cognitive decline due to their common vascular risk factors with dementia and underlying cerebrovascular pathology. We hypothesized that TIA patients would have increased longitudinal rates of cerebral atrophy as measured by T1 magnetic resonance (MR) imaging compared to non-TIA controls over 1 year and that increased cerebral atrophy rates would be associated with poorer cognitive outcomes. Secondly, we hypothesized that at baseline TIA patients would have lower regional cerebral blood flow (CBF) as measured by arterial spin labelled (ASL) MR imaging compared to non-TIA controls, and that CBF would be associated with cognition. Our results suggest that TIA patients show almost double the cerebral atrophy rates of non-TIA controls over 1-year, and in the absence of demonstrated change in cognition, supports that these subjects with TIA are in a preclinical stage of cognitive decline. Our results also show that TIA patients have reduced CBF in the left entorhinal cortex, the posterior cingulate bilaterally and the right precuneus which was associated with poorer memory outcomes. These predictors of early neurodegeneration and vascular changes show that TIA patients are a high-risk population for dementia and could improve inclusion criteria for clinical trials to prevent dementia in the future.

Preface

This thesis begins with an introductory chapter highlighting the concepts that will be discussed in manuscript style Chapters 2 and 3. Chapter 4 provides a conclusion of the thesis and highlights the important contributions of this thesis to the literature of late-life cognitive decline and prevention.

Chapter 1 is original, unpublished, independent work by the author, M. Reid. Chapter 2 examines the associations between longitudinal cerebral atrophy rates and cognition function between TIA patients and non-TIA controls. Chapter 2 uses longitudinal data collected from the PREVENT Study. Chapter 2 has been submitted to *Neurology*. Chapter 3 examines the relationship between cross-sectional regional cerebral blood flow and cognition in TIA patients and non-TIA controls. Chapter 3 uses cross-sectional data collected from the PREVENT Study.

Chapters 2 and 3 begin with a preface to outline the roles of each co-author in the research.

Acknowledgments

A very special gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Philip Barber for his continuous support of my MSc study, for his patience, inspiration and immense knowledge. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members Dr. Tolulope Sajobi, Dr. Stewart Longman and Dr. Shelagh Coutts for their unfailing guidance as we tackled this project together. I am also very grateful for the endless encouragement and constructive criticism from Dr. Chris d'Esterre.

I am appreciative of the immense collaboration from the research staff, nurses, fellows and attendings at the Stroke Research Office and Stroke Prevention Clinic that make the PREVENT Study possible. Thank you to all the staff at the Seamen Family MR Center. Thank you to Dr. Rani Sah for your time and advice. With a special mention to the students and volunteers of Team Barber who were of paramount importance to this endeavor.

I am tremendously thankful to the volunteers who participated in this study as they courageously chose to contribute their time and share their story to promote healthy ageing for all.

And finally, thank you to my long-suffering parents, humorous friends and uncomplaining accomplice, Lucas.

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations	x
CHAPTER ONE: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN VASCULAR RISK FACTORS AND	
DEMENTIA	1
1 1 Preface	1
1.2 Introduction	1
1.3 Pathogenesis of Dementias	1
1.3.1 Alzheimer's Disease	2
1 3 2 Vascular Dementia	5
1 3 3 Mixed Dementia	5
1.3.4 Transient Ischemic Attack and Cognitive Decline	0
1 4 Risk Factors for Late-Life Cognitive Decline	10
1 5 Preclinical Dementia Biomarkers	16
1.5.1 Structural Imaging	16
1.5.2 Cerebral Blood Flow and Glucose Metabolism	21
1.5.3 Molecular Biomarkers	24
1.6 Cognitive Predictors of Dementia	
1.7 Conclusion	
1.8 Thesis Rationale and Experimental Approach	28
CHAPTER TWO: LONGITUDINAL STUDY OF COGNITION AND BRAIN ATROPHY	
RATES IN TRANSIENT ISCHEMIC ATTACK PATIENTS	32
2 1 Preface	32
2.7 Introduction	52
2.2 Materials and Methods	52
2.3 1 Study Population	34
2.3.1 Study 1 optimical Data Collection	35
2.3.2 Chinedi Buta Concerten	36
2.3.5 Image Processing	36
2.3.5 Percentage Brain Volume Change	
2.3.6 White Matter Hyperintensities and Diffusion Lesions	38
2.3.7 Statistical Analysis	38
2.4 Results	39
2.4.1 Demographics	39
2.4.2 Multiple Linear Regression	45
2.5 Discussion	48
CHAPTER THREE: THE ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN ASL-MRI CEREBRAL BLOOD	
FLOW IN TRANSIENT ISCHEMIC ATTACK PATIENTS AND COGNITION	53

Table of Contents

3.1 Preface	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Materials and Methods	
3.3.1 Study Population	
3.3.2 Clinical Data Collection	
3.3.3 Image Acquisition Protocols	
3.3.4 Image Processing	
3.3.5 ASL-T1 Registration	
3.3.6 White Matter Hyperintensities and Diffusion Lesions	59
3.3.7 Statistical Analyses	59
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Demographics	
3.4.2 Multiple Linear Regression	
3.5 Discussion	
CHAPTER FOUR: THESIS CONCLUSIONS	
4.1 Overall Conclusions	
4.2 Limitations and Future Directions	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: COPYRIGHT PERMISSION	

List of Tables

- Table 1-1. Summary of data from placebo controlled trials on the effect of antihypertensive (AH) treatment on dementia. (short-CARE: short-Comprehensive Assessment and Referral Evaluation; PALT: Paired Associate Learning Test; TMT: Trail Making Test A; MHIS
 Modified Hachinski Ischemic Score; WMH: White Matter Hyperintensities). Adapted with permission from Sana Tariq.
- Table 1-2. Summary of past and current multi-domain studies, and their outcomes and results.(FDG-PET: ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography; ALDS:
Academic medical center Linear Disability Score; APOE: Apolipoprotein E). Adapted
with permission from Sana Tariq.
- Table 2-1. Demographic information, medical information and two-way two-sample *t*-tests of significance and Chi-square tests for demographic and clinical data of TIA and control participants ($\alpha = 0.05$). IQR = interquartile range, WMH = white matter hyperintensities normalized by brain volume, NBV = normalized brain volume, DWI = diffusion weighted image lesion, BL = baseline, FU = follow-up.
- Table 2-2. Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests of cognitive domains comparing TIA and control participants (α= 0.05). MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, ACE-R = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment. A) Baseline. B) 1 year follow-up.
- Table 2-3. Wilcoxon-Signed Rank tests and pairwise correlation coefficients (r) of cognitive domains comparing baseline and 1 year follow-up scores (∝= 0.05). MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, ACE-R = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment. A) TIA patients. B) Control subjects.
- Table 2-4. Two-way two-sample *t*-tests comparing neuropsychological data between published normative results and our control population ($\alpha = 0.05$). Our control population had an average age of 63.85 ± 8.43 and education of 14.60 ± 2.90 years. MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment.
- Table 2-5. Final backwards stepwise multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between risk factors and cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year). DWI = Diffusion weighted imaging lesion, MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination.
- Table 2-6. Multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and baseline cognitive scores. This model is controlling for TIA status, age,

sex, premorbid intellect, white matter hyperintensities and normalized brain volume. BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test.

- Table 2-7. Multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and change in cognition over a year. This model is controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, white matter hyperintensities and normalized brain volume. BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test.
- Table 3-1. Demographic information and medical information of TIA and control participants compared with two-way two-sample *t*-tests and Chi square tests ($\alpha = 0.05$). IQR = interquartile range, WMH = white matter hyperintensities, NBV = normalized brain volume, DWI = diffusion weighted image lesion.
- Table 3-2. Median, interquartile ranges and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests of cognitive domains comparing TIA and control participants ($\propto = 0.05$). MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, ACE-R = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment.
- Table 3-3. Median, interquartile range and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests of regional cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) comparing TIA and control participants ($\propto = 0.05$).
- Table 3-4. Backwards stepwise multiple linear regression ($\propto = 0.05$) was used to analyze the associations between risk factors (control vs. TIA, age, sex, education, normalized brain volume, premorbid intellect, depression, white matter hyperintensities/normalized brain volume, side of TIA, DWI volume, systolic blood pressure, cholesterol treatment, antihypertensive, diabetes and tobacco) and regional cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g). CESD = depression, NBV= normalized brain volume, WMH = white matter hyperintensities normalized by brain volume, DWI = diffusion weighted imaging lesion volume, BP = blood pressure, Adj = adjusted, L = left, R = right.
- Table 3-5. Multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between regional cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) and cognitive scores. This model is controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, side of TIA, white matter hyperintensities and normalized brain volume. Hip = hippocampus, E.C. = entorhinal cortex, P.C. = posterior cortex, Pre = precuneus, L= left, R = right, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, P = p-value, R²=adjusted R-squared.

List of Figures

- Figure 1-1. The PREVENT Study flowchart.
- Figure 2-1. Example of FSL SIENA final brain edge movement image.
- Figure 2-2. The cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) of the TIA (*n*=59) and control (*n*=34) participants. A) The box plots of cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year). B) The independent cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and age of the TIA and control participants.
- Figure 2-3. Median cognitive scores of TIA (n=59) and control (n=34) participants from baseline to 1 year follow up with interquartile range. A) Median raw scores. B) Median time (s) of TMT scores. * = Raw score divided by 10, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test.
- Figure 3-1. A comparison of quantitated cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) of the posterior cingulate, precuneus and entorhinal cortex acquired by ASL-MR overlaid on the anatomical T1-weighed MR image of age, sex and education matched TIA patients and controls. A) Female, aged 77, 16 years of education. B) Male, aged 68, 12 years of education.

List of Abbreviations

$A\beta_{1-42}$	Amyloid-beta 1-42
ACE-R	Addenbrooke's Cognitive Assessment-Revised
AD	Alzheimer's Disease
ADNI	Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative
AH	Antihypertensive
APOE	Apolipoprotein E
ASL	Arterial Spin Labelling
AUC	Area Under Curve
BP	Blood Pressure
BL	Baseline
BVMT-R	Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow
CES-D	Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale
CoV	Spatial Coefficient of Variation
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CVD	Cerebrovascular disease
DS	Digit Symbol Coding
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
DTI	Diffusion Tensor Imaging
DWI	Diffusion Weighted Imaging
ECD	Ethyl Cysteinate Dimer
FDG	¹⁸ F-fluorodeoxyglucose
FINGER	Finnish Geriatric Interventions to Prevent Cognitive Impairment and
	Disability
FLAIR	Fluid-Attenuated Inversion Recovery
FOV	Field of View
FU	Follow-Up
GM	Grey Matter
HATICE	Healthy Aging Through Internet Counselling in the Elderly
HYVET-COG	Hypertension in the Very Elderly Trial
IQR	Interquartile Range
MAPT	Multidomain Alzheimer Prevention Trial
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MMSE	Mini-Mental State Examination
MOCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
MR	Magnetic Resonance
MRC CFAS	Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study
NAART	National American Adult Reading Test
NBV	Normalized Brain Volume
NTB	Neuropsychological Test Battery
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
PiB	Pittsburg Compound B
PreDIVA	Prevention of Dementia by Intensive Vascular care

PREVENT	Predementia Neuroimaging of Transient Ischemic Attack Study
PROGRESS	Perindopril Protection Against Recurrent Stroke Study
P-tau	Phosphor-tau
QSM	Quantitative Susceptibility Mapping
RCTs	Randomized Controlled Trials
ROI	Region of Interest
SCOPE	Study on Cognition and Prognosis in the Elderly
SD	Standard Deviation
SPECT	Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography
SYS-EUR	Systolic Hypertension in Europe trial
TE	Echo Time
TI	Inversion Time
TIA	Transient Ischemic Attack
TR	Repetition Time
TMT	Trail Making Test
T-tau	Total-tau
VaD	Vascular Dementia
VCI	Vascular Cognitive Impairment
RAVLT	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test
WAIS	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale
WMH	White Matter Hyperintensities

CHAPTER ONE: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN VASCULAR RISK FACTORS AND DEMENTIA

1.1 Preface

Approximately 500 000 Canadians are living with dementia and the prevalence is expected to double in the next 20 years, which will increase social, personal and economic burden. Dementia related to Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is caused by progressive neuronal loss leading to brain atrophy, which presents clinically as progressive disruption in various cognitive domains, including memory. The progressive pre-clinical phase of dementia may span more than twenty years, and is related to the co-existence of vascular and life-style risk factors in mid-life. In the absence of a cure, it is crucial to identify high risk persons and implement precision dementia prevention strategies. Fundamentally, the aim should be to reduce microscopic brain tissue loss through the modification of vascular and lifestyle risk factors in mid-life and therefore optimize the opportunity to prevent dementia in the future.

1.2 Introduction

Dementia is a persistent progressive disease related to well described pathological neurodegenerative or vascular disorders which can be associated with cognitive impairment involving memory, executive function, language, behavior, personality and sensorimotor functions (1). Dementia is a major cause of disability and dependency in the elderly and is associated with personal, social and economic burden. Currently, it costs \$10.4 billion (CAD) annually to take care of the 500 000 Canadians living with dementia (2). The cost for people with dementia is estimated to be almost six times greater than for healthy individuals of the same demographics (2). As the mean age of our population continues to increase, the prevalence of dementia is expected to double within 15 years (2). Over \$800 billion per year globally is spent on caring with those with

dementia, rising to \$2 trillion by 2030 (3). Health-care systems are in danger of becoming overwhelmed by the future costs of caring for those with dementia (4). While complete prevention of all dementias is not feasible, pushing back the age of delay in onset of 1 year could prevent more than 9 million cases of dementia globally by 2050 and delaying onset by 5 years could more than halve the prevalence of global dementia (5, 6). Until the past two decades, delaying or preventing dementia was deemed impossible (7, 8). A promising new era in dementia prevention has arrived as we now have begun to understand the complex pathological processes and associated risk factors of the disease.

The progressive pre-clinical phase of dementia may span more than twenty years, and in the absence of a cure, prevention in mid-life is a promising target to counteract the dementia epidemic (9,10). Late life cognitive impairment is commonly caused by progressive neuronal loss related to two dominant disease entities, AD and small vessel cerebrovascular disease (CVD). The early identification of people at risk for cognitive impairment is potentially the single most important factor to implement mid-life lifestyle and vascular risk reduction strategies for the prevention or postponement of dementia (9, 11). Traditionally, the dementia syndrome is subdivided in late-life into the neurodegenerative types, including AD and vascular dementia (VaD), but the commonest cause is mixed dementia (AD with vascular disease). Although there is vast and ongoing literature exploring the dichotomy between AD and VaD, they frequently coexist and share common interactions related to the cardiovascular risk factors supporting the concept that they are closely related disorders (12–17).

1.3 Pathogenesis of Dementias

Dementia is a complex progressive manifestation of symptoms that involves two distinct disease processes, Alzheimer's Disease (AD) and cerebrovascular disease (CVD), which

contribute to cerebral atrophy years before clinical symptoms are detected (1, 9, 18–23). The DSM-5 has redefined dementia as major/minor Neurocognitive Disorder and differentiates between vascular and AD types (24). The use of brain imaging and specific disease related biomarkers have the capacity to not only support the diagnosis, but also help predict progression, and can potentially monitor disease and therapeutic response to secondary prevention approaches (24).

1.3.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease is a progressive neurodegenerative disease that is characterized pathologically by the accumulation of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles consisting of phosphorylated Tau protein, a neuronal marker of degeneration (12). There are several differing hypotheses regarding the possible pathogenesis of the disease, the most prominent being the amyloid cascade hypothesis in which there is abnormal accumulation of the misfolded amyloid beta₁₋₄₂ (A β_{1-42}) which leads to neuronal loss and depletion of neurotransmitters causing cognitive symptoms (25, 26). The selective toxicity of the amyloid protein initially affects the neurons in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex, eventually spreading to the neocortex contributing to global brain atrophy (27, 28)

The neuropathology of AD is complex, but it has been established that AD patients have significant medial temporal lobe atrophy, including early disproportionate atrophy of the hippocampi and progressive neuronal loss compared to age-matched controls using quantitative structural magnetic resonance imaging (MR) imaging (29–32). This is consistent with the clinical presentation of the disease, as declarative episodic memory depends heavily on the hippocampus and other medial temporal lobe structures. Patients with AD present with a combination of insidious memory loss and focal cognitive dysfunction, while motor skills are relatively persevered

(13). A clinical diagnosis of probable AD requires evidence of memory loss (with episodic memory being the most affected), and impairment of at least one other cognitive domain (13). Furthermore, whole brain cerebral blood flow is reduced 20-40% in AD patients (33, 34). Hypoperfusion is consistently observed in the posterior cingulate, precuneus, inferior parietal and lateral prefrontal cortices in early AD (35–37). The posterior cingulate is integral to the limbic system and the precuneus is involved with episodic memory and visuospatial processing, which are consistent with our understanding of AD pathology. Decreased regional cerebral blood flow (CBF) and glucose metabolism are tightly coupled, are both associated with amyloid deposition, and have proven to identify similar regional abnormalities in AD patients (16, 38, 39). While researchers continue to debate the causes and progression of AD, it has been established that cerebrovascular disease is a frequent comorbidity.

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a poorly standardized syndrome (not a diagnosis) defined by objective cognitive disturbance but not fulfilling criteria for dementia, and are considered at higher risk of developing AD. Persons with MCI may experience memory, attention and concentration problems at a higher level than is expected for their age and education, however their symptoms do not obviously interfere with daily life. Thus, it may be difficult to distinguish MCI from common mood-related disorders. It is estimated that 20-50% of those with MCI go on to develop AD within 5 years (40). A limitation with 'MCI' is that while the term has existed for three decades, it is not standardized and about 40% of individuals either do not progress to AD, or have cognitive symptoms that improve (40). Therefore, MCI is heterogeneous and has provided a useful construct for prodromal dementia but the non-standardized operational criteria makes it potentially unreliable and impractical for discriminating individuals at higher risk of developing Alzheimer's disease.

1.3.2 Vascular Dementia

Vascular dementia (VaD) can present as an abrupt deterioration of cognitive function following a stroke(s) or extensive periventricular ischemic white-matter disease (13). VaD is defined as cognitive impairment in two or more areas of cognitive domain with impaired activities of daily living (41–43). Vascular cognitive impairment (VCI) is also caused or associated with CVD and is defined as cognitive deficits in at least one cognitive domain without impaired activities of daily living (42, 43). Similar to MCI, VCI can eventually progress to AD/VaD (44). Strategic infarction can cause ischemic damage in strategic regions (e.g. thalamus) that can disrupt brain circuits that are essential for memory and cognition and cause significant cognitive deficits (45). These neurological events often produce a specific cognitive loss (e.g. mild aphasia after left parietal infarct) and repeated events cause progressive incapacitation (46). Multi-infarct dementia is characterized by multiple cortical infarcts in the cortex or subcortical areas (45). The reduction of functional brain capacity in multi-infarct VaD varies significantly depending on the size, location and number of ischemic events. A third subtype of VaD, cerebral small vessel disease, comprises of white matter lesions from lacunar infarcts, demyelination and gliosis (46). White matter lesions are common in elderly individuals and a higher burden of lesions can produce abnormal cognitive changes as the neuronal connections in the basal ganglia and ascending brainstem pathways become disrupted (46). Subsequently, this results in slowed mental processes, problems with decision making and apathy, amongst other symptoms (46). The different subtypes of VaD are frequently heterogeneous and complex; thus, the exact frequencies and mechanisms of sub-type VaD pathologies are unclear. Pure VaD is rare and estimated to account for only <5% of dementias (45, 47). As such, it is difficult to find a single definition for VaD that is operationally relevant, as well as specific, and it is unhelpful to classify a clear distinction between AD and VaD

in most cases.

1.3.3 Mixed Dementia

Mixed dementia recognizes the heterogeneity of dementias, and is classified as the coexistence of AD and CVD (1). While it is difficult to estimate, it is proposed that approximately 40-60% of dementias may be classified as mixed dementia, making it the commonest form of dementia (13). Population based autopsies suggest that vascular and neurodegenerative pathology frequently co-exist in older people with dementia, likely due to the relationship between CVD and AD (48). The prospective incidence OxVasc Study (2019) found that the 1-year standardized morbidity ratio for the incidence of dementia was 47.3 for major stroke, 5.8 for minor stroke and 4.0 for transient ischemic attack (TIA) (49). The Nun Study demonstrated that in participants with AD, those with microinfarcts had a 20-fold increase in developing dementia and poorer cognition compared to those without clinical infarcts (50).

White matter hyperintensities (WMH) are a consequence of cerebral small vessel disease and increase in severity and prevalence with age, arterial hypertension and cardiovascular disease (51–54). These lesions have multiple histopathological correlates, such as ependymal loss, cerebral ischemia, demyelination, microcystic infarcts, and gliosis (55, 56). They are considered a hallmark of CVD (VaD) and are also associated with a higher risk of progression to dementia (48, 57). Barnes et al. (2013) found that increased WMH burden and decreased cerebral spinal fluid $A\beta_{1.42}$ levels were independently associated with higher longitudinal brain volume loss in healthy control subjects, but not MCI or AD patients, likely due to different phases of disease progression (58). Therefore, the burden of vascular and AD-type pathologies are likely to be interdependent and the leading causes of dementia in the elderly (44, 59). Small-vessel disease, infarcts, and the presence of more than one vascular pathological change are associated with dementia in the younger old (60). AD pathology, including neuritic plaques in the hippocampus/neocortex and neurofibrillary tangles in the hippocampus, is less predictive of the cognitive profile of the very old (60). Therefore, vascular treatments may be best targeted for younger cohorts as they may be less effective in the oldest old (60). Further, the Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study (MRC CFAS) showed that cortical atrophy was a better correlate of dementia than classical AD-type lesions (61). Consequently, neuroimaging markers of disease progression may be more sensitive than classic AD pathology.

There are numerous theories on the mechanisms responsible for the association between CVD and AD. The Nun study postulates that the combined AD/CVD pathology accelerates the manifestation of dementia due to a reduction of a pathological threshold (50). It should be noted that post-stroke dementia could also be the co-existing result of an acute vascular insult and preexisting AD (62). There are also preliminary reports that incipient vascular disease abnormalities may initiate early neurodegenerative disease in mid-life (63). Hypertension is recognized as the most consistent risk factor for both stroke and dementia (64-69). High blood pressure is associated with increased neurocognitive loss approximately 15-20 years later in life (70). Hypertension has also been found to contribute to brain volume loss, as systolic blood pressure and pulse pressure are associated with medial temporal atrophy in individuals with late-onset dementia (71) It is hypothesized that chronic hypertension may dysregulate the CBF system and lead to cerebral hypoperfusion (64). Cerebral hypoperfusion caused by CVD may result in a reduced capability to eliminate the amyloid protein, increase hypoxia leading to inflammation and white matter damage, and limit mechanisms of angiogenesis (17, 72). Hypoperfusion may also accelerate hyperphosphylation of tau resulting in accelerated neurofibrillary plaque accumulation (72).

Hypertension-related cerebral hypoperfusion can diminish cerebral metabolism and has even been shown to have direct negative cognitive effects in a rat model (73–75). Reduced cerebral blood flow is linked to deranged cerebral glucose homeostasis which is a hallmark of AD (74–77). Furthermore, oxidative stress may lead to mitochondrial dysfunction and hippocampal neurodegeneration and plasticity loss (72).

1.3.4 Transient Ischemic Attack and Cognitive Decline

TIA is a common medical emergency and is defined clinically temporary episode of neurological dysfunction due to an obstruction in the carotid artery, vertebral artery or cerebral small vessels causing transient cerebral ischemia (78). A TIA is currently defined by a combination of radiological and clinical criteria; transient focal brain hypoperfusion that is spontaneously resolved, no/very mild infarction, with disrupted cerebral function lasting <24 hours (79). TIAs are frequently misdiagnosed or not medically identified because patients and physicians alike fail to recognize the severity of the transient symptoms. TIAs should be treated as a medical emergency as approximately 15% of diagnosed strokes are preceded by them, and up to 80% of strokes after TIA are preventable (79, 80).

Levine et al. (2015) studied over 23 000 participants in a prospective study over 6 years and found that incident stroke was associated with acute decline in cognitive function and also accelerated and persistent cognitive decline (81). Furthermore, within 3-months of TIA symptoms, a third of patients have documented impairment of at least one cognitive domain, including working memory, attention, and information processing speed, which is not fully explained by clinical brain infarcts (82). Sachdev et al. (2014) concluded that TIA/stroke patients have rates of incident dementia of 5.9% per year compared to 0.4% in healthy controls (83). However, the population criteria for stroke/TIA and DWI volumes were not described (83). The Oxford Vascular Study found that TIA patients have a 4-fold increased risk of late-life dementia, however the relationship between TIA and late-life cognitive impairment remains poorly understood (49, 84). We do know that cognitive decline and stroke share many common risk factors, and in a population attribution risk calculation, 8.4% of dementia incidence could be eliminated by preventing stroke and TIA (1). In a recent prospective observation study (Bivard et al., 2018), patients with TIA experienced a significant reduction in global gray matter and structural atrophy related to the area of ischemia) after 3 months, and increasing atrophy resulted in a proportional decline in cognitive performance measured by the Montreal Cognitive Assessment test (MOCA) (85). However, 28% of the 'TIA' participants had significantly large computed tomography perfusion deficits and DWI lesion volume was not reported (85). Further, the location of atrophy was partly dependent on the acutely affected circulation (85). Thus, in this study the detection of significant atrophy following only a period of 3-months in this study was likely due to infarction caused acute atrophy following a minor stroke. Walters et al. (2003) found that patients with TIA had more than twice the rate of global brain atrophy as age matched controls over the subsequent year suggesting atrophy is a possible early marker of the development of cognitive impairment over a longer follow-up (86). In a recent three-year longitudinal prospective study (Munir et al. 2019), TIA and minor stroke patients experienced a significantly higher rate of whole brain atrophy, although there were only modest associations with brain atrophy rates and episodic memory (87). If neurodegenerative changes precede cognitive symptoms, this study supports that TIA patients are an optimal population to investigate in mid-life in the pursuit of an early therapeutic window that would aim to prevent late-life cognitive decline (87).

TIA patients are an excellent population to observe with advanced neuroimaging in a longitudinal cognitive study because they have vascular risk factors that are common with dementias and do not suffer from disability following their ischemic event. TIA patients are generally younger (49, 88) and in better physical condition than stroke patients, facilitating the acquisition of detailed serial cognitive tests and avoid high attrition rates caused by stroke related co-morbidity and frailty (83, 89). Longitudinal prospective studies following TIA patients, such as the Predementia Neuroimaging of Transient Ischemic Attack (PREVENT), are urgently needed to identify microstructural and functional cerebrovascular damage through neuroimaging to understand the cause of cognitive decline. If successful, we will have the capability to understand modifiable risk factors in a TIA population and we will have the potential to reduce their risk of cognitive decline in the future.

1.4 Risk Factors for Late-Life Cognitive Decline

It is well established that an interaction between genetic and environmental factors contribute to the pathological consequences that lead to cognitive decline. For example, the detection of AD neuropathology is present in approximately one third of elderly people without dementia and cognitive impairment (90). Furthermore, an atrophy study on a population over ninety years of age demonstrated that half of people with dementia did not have sufficient neuropathology to account for their cognitive decline (91). These participants may show less impairment than expected due to protective compensatory factors, including higher education and cardiovascular health. Genetic factors are estimated to only account for 50% of the risk of developing AD (29). Individuals with two ApoE μ 4 alleles are 3-7x more likely to develop AD compared to those with ApoE μ 3 alleles (92). Worldwide, the highest estimated population attributable risk for AD is low education attainment (19.1%) and physical inactivity (20.0%) (93).

Moreover, a third of late-life dementia may be attributed to seven modifiable risk factors: low education, mid-life hypertension, mid-life obesity, diabetes, physical inactivity and depression (15). A reduction of these risk factors by 10-20% per decade is estimated to reduce worldwide prevalence of AD by 8-50% in 2050 (14). Chronic exposure to vascular risk factors can contribute to endothelial dysfunction, vessel wall thickening and perivascular drainage that can potentially lead to chronic hypoperfusion and oxidative stress, accelerating the hyperphosphylation of tau (48, 90). However, placebo controlled trials on the effect of antihypertensive treatment on dementia have had largely mixed results (94–99) as summarized in Table 1-1. For example, the Perindopril Protection Against Recurrent Stroke Study (PROGRESS), aimed to analyze the effect of an ACE inhibitor antihypertensive on longitudinal cognitive decline and dementia in a population with CVD (98). However, they found no clear effect of treatment on the overall risk of dementia (98). Reportedly, the risk of dementia related to recurrent stroke was reduced by one third which suggests that the benefits of treatment were primarily the consequences of stroke prevention, rather than a direct effect on cognition (98).

Table 1-1. Summary of data from placebo controlled trials on the effect of antihypertensive (AH)treatment on dementia. (short-CARE: short-Comprehensive Assessment and Referral Evaluation;PALT: Paired Associate Learning Test; TMT: Trail Making Test A; MHIS - Modified HachinskiIschemic Score; WMH: White Matter Hyperintensities). Adapted with permission from Sana Tariq.

Trials	SHEP	MRC	SYST-	HYVET-	PROGRESS	SCOPE
	(94)	Hypertension	EUR	COG (97)	(98)	(99)
Sample	4736	2584	2418	3336	6105	4964
Size	4750	2304	2410	5550	0105	FUCE
Age	≥60	65-74	≥60	≥80	≥64	70-89
Follow-Up Period	5 years	4.5 years	2 years	2.2 years	3.9 years	3.7 years
Design	Double- blind	Single-blind	Double- blind	Double- blind	Double-blind	Double- blind
Cognitive Assessment	shore- CARE	PALT and TMT tests	MMSE	MMSE	MMSE	MMSE
Biomarkers	None	None	Modified ischemic score with brain imaging of MHIS	CT Scan and MHIS	WMH Imaging	None
Outcome	Incidence of dementia	Cognitive impairment	AD, VaD or mixed dementia	AD, VaD	Secondary outcome: dementia and cognitive decline	Secondary outcome: dementia and cognitive decline
Result	Non- significant reduction in dementia in treatment group by 16%	Non- significant effect on cognitive function	Reduced dementia risk by 50% (7.7 to 3.8) cases per 1000 patient- years; p=0.05	Non- significant reduction in incidence of dementia	Reduction in cognitive decline by 19% (95% CI 4-32%; p=0.01); reduction of dementia with recurrent stroke of 34% (95% CI 3- 55%; p=0.03)	Non- significant effect on cognitive decline

Recent studies have attempted to target multiple vascular risk factors, including diet, exercise, cognitive training and vascular risk monitoring to improve or maintain cognitive function in at risk elderly people from the general population (94–99) as summarized in Table 1-2. The Finnish Geriatric Interventions to Prevent Cognitive Impairment and Disability (FINGER) study, enrolled individuals between the ages of 60-77 in a double-blind randomized controlled trial to analyze the effects of modifiable vascular and life-style risk therapies to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (100). A two-year multidomain intervention was measured by the primary outcome; change in cognition through the comprehensive neuropsychological test battery (NTB). The NTB included the Wechsler Memory Scale visual immediate, the Wechsler Memory Scale verbal immediate, the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) immediate, the Wechsler Memory Digit Span, the Controlled Word Association Test, the Category Fluency Test, the Wechsler Memory Scale visual delayed, the Wechsler Memory Scale verbal delayed, and RAVLT delayed (101). The FINGER Study found that this multidomain approach improved/maintained cognitive functioning in the elderly over 2 years (100). While the improvement was significantly greater in the intervention group, the control group also demonstrated cognitive improvement which may be a result of practice effects of repeated cognitive testing (102). However, further large randomized placebo controlled trials, such as the Prevention of Dementia by Intensive Vascular Care (pre-DIVA) failed to find an effect, calling attention to several methodological issues within current dementia trials (103).

Table 1-2. Summary of past and current multi-domain studies, and their outcomes and results. (FDG-PET: ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography; ALDS: Academic medical center Linear Disability Score; APOE: Apolipoprotein E). Adapted with permission from Sana Tariq.

Trials	FINGER (100)	MAPT (104)	preDIVA (103)	HATICE (105)
Sample	1260	1680	3526	4600
Size				
Age	60-77	≥ 70	70-78	≥65
Follow-Up	2 years	3 years	6 years	1.5 years
Period				
Design	Double-blind	Placebo	Open-label	Double-blind
	placebo controlled	controlled	cluster-	placebo controlled
			randomized	
D' 1			controlled	N
Biomarkers	None	FDG PET scan	APOE	None
		(cerebrar metabolism)	genotyping	
		MRI (atronhy		
		rate) AV45 PET		
		scan (brain		
		amyloid deposit)		
Outcome	Cognitive	Memory	Dementia and	1°: systolic blood
	impairment with	impairment with	disability score	pressure, LDL, BMI
	NTB(101)	FCRST(106),	with ALDS	2°: includes
		battery	(107)	cognitive
				functioning with
				STROOP, AVLT,
D				verbal fluency
Result	Multidomain	Multidomain	Multidomain	Pre-results:
	approach could	approach leads	intervention did	relationship with
	improve or	to slowing of	not reduce	online
	function in at risk	in older adults	cause dementio	coach qualitatively
	alderly	in oluci auults	in older adulta	enhanced
	Clucity			cardiovascular self
				management (108)
				management (108)

Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have failed to prove a single drug approach is effective in the prevention of dementia. Anti-hypertensive drugs represent the only exception, and

single life-style related interventions (e.g. physical activity and cognitive training) have shown only modest or short-term positive results (109, 110). RCTs must overcome ethical considerations as true double-blinded experiments would leave dangerous vascular risk factors untreated for many individuals. RCTs must also consider the importance of intervention timing in relation to disease onset, age and duration of the intervention (109). For example, in long-term population-based observation studies, hypotension is often observed in the years preceding AD whereas hypertension in mid-life has been linked to an increase of AD 20-30 years later (111). Most of these studies have overlooked fundamental challenges of attempting to address the efficacy of vascular reduction treatments on cognitive decline; special consideration needs to be given to identifying patients at highest risk of dementia since these patients are potentially most likely to benefit from vascular risk reduction, and the timing and type of intervention for optimal effectiveness (103). Further, detailed neuropsychological assessments and dementia biomarkers were limited or not included whatsoever. Future trials should continue to improve study methodology with large, longitudinal studies that include biomarkers and multi-domain interventions. Effects should be easily measurable and have a set definition; measuring changes in cognitive performance may capture subtle decline and therefore might be a more sensitive outcome than conversion from MCI to dementia. Furthermore, individuals at a high risk of dementia in the crucial pre-clinical window should be targeted. This study is crucial to facilitate optimal RCT design in the future.

It has become apparent that disease-modifying drugs and interventional therapies have been unsuccessful, likely because the brain has already suffered irreversible neuronal loss by the clinical stage of dementia. The exploration of the protracted prodromal phase of dementia by quantitative neuroimaging is essential to understand, and subsequently, to guide precision therapies in mid-life that will *prevent* dementia in late-life.

1.5 Preclinical Dementia Biomarkers

Despite a global effort to find therapies that delay or prevent onset of dementia, treatments have shown only modest benefit at best. This may reflect limitations of the treatments themselves or, more likely, inappropriate trial populations. Large trials have traditionally recruited patients with mild to moderate cognitive symptoms, in which the disease processes may be too advanced to realistically modify with intervention. Through the identification of subjects at-risk of dementia, secondary prevention may be feasible. Preclinical dementia refers to the stage of dementia in which the molecular pathology of AD is already present in the brain but is not yet clinically expressed. Individuals are asymptomatic by definition and cognitively normal (112). Research criteria propose the use of biomarkers to define pre-clinical dementia must be highly reproducible, standardized, sensitive to change over time, capable of detecting treatment effects, and should be operationally straightforward to deploy in multi-centre studies. Further, biomarkers should have the capability to capture sensitive treatment effects and monitor disease progression over time (118).

1.5.1 Structural Imaging

Structural MR imaging provides in-vivo measurements of global and regional brain volumes. Cerebral atrophy describes the loss of neurons and neuronal connectivity in the brain. Increased rates of cerebral atrophy are expected in a healthy ageing population; however, many neurodegenerative diseases can cause abnormally high rates of atrophy. For example, cerebral

volume loss is estimated to be 2-3% in AD patients annually, compared to 1.1% in MCI patients and 0.2-0.5% in healthy controls (119-123). MCI subjects who convert to AD have twice the annualized atrophy rates than that of MCI subjects who do not progress, 1.6% and 0.9%, respectively (124). Each additional percent of annualized whole-brain atrophy rates in MCI patients is associated with a 1.3x higher odds of disease progression (125). It is therefore possible to differentiate persons with dementia and those without dementia by measuring rapid rates of atrophy (126). Rates of brain atrophy are integral to biological pathways linked to preclinical progression of vascular disease and AD (27, 126-129). Rate of clinical progression has been shown to parallel whole brain atrophy, and as such, whole brain atrophy is frequently used as a disease biomarker for clinical trials. Brain atrophy rates are also highly sensitive at predicting cognitive decline and can be measured more precisely than neuropsychological outcomes, since cognitive tests can be confounded by many factors, including baseline cognitive performance, comorbid factors, pharmacological treatments, ceiling and floor effects, and learning effects (130-134). Atrophy can be generalized (global) or focal; affecting only a limited area of brain resulting in specific functional losses.

Cerebral atrophy can be measured by multiple neuroimaging modalities, including magnetic resonance (MR) imaging and computed tomography (CT). High resolution T1-weighted MR imaging sequences are often used to detect cerebral atrophy because of the high structural contrast and high signal-to-noise per unit time of scanning. T1 refers to longitudinal relaxation time, which is the time constant that determines the rate at which excited protons return to equilibrium. T1-weighted images are produced by using short time to echo (TE) and repetition time (TR) times and create images with bright white matter and dark cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). 3D-T1 weighted MR images have been consistently verified across multiple datasets for

longitudinal atrophy studies (135). T2-weighted (transverse-relaxation time) MR sequences are created with longer TE and TR times to create images with bright CSF and dark fat (white matter). T2-weighted MR images have also been used in atrophy studies, but are especially useful for scoring gray matter, subcortical lesions and infratentorial lesions (135). T2-wighted images may outperform T1-weighted MR for hippocampal subfield volumetry because the acquisition parameters can be set to maximize the contrast in this region of interest (136). Further MR scans, including T2-weighted fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) images can also be used to measure atrophy – although this use is not frequent in the literature. In the 1980s, serial CT was one of the first neuroimaging modalities to show abnormally large ventricular and sulcar enlargement in AD patients. CT uses x-rays scans from a multitude of angles to create a computed 3D reconstruction. There are few modern CT studies that investigate cerebral atrophy because the emphasis was put on MR due to better soft tissue contrast (137). CT does have many advantages over MR images, including lower cost, faster acquisition (100x), availability, higher spatial resolution and fewer contraindications. The disadvantages of CT include lower contrast to noise ratio and exposure of the patient to ionized radiation – which a concern with longitudinal studies. CT has been found to reliability detect accelerated cerebral volume loss in AD patients and may be used more frequently for whole-brain atrophy studies in the future (137-139).

AD patients in the early stages of disease show short-term memory loss and disorientation which is associated with hippocampal neuronal loss (140). The hippocampus has been studied extensively in AD because it plays an important role in declarative memory consolidation. Further, reduced hippocampal volume results in amnestic syndrome, a core feature of AD (114). In fact, damage to the hippocampus is often incorporated into the pathological features required for a diagnosis, including neurofibrillary tangles and A β deposition (141). Hippocampal atrophy rates

18

in an age matched population (65-75 years) are estimated to be about 2% annually for healthy controls, 3.8% for MCI patients and 4% for AD patients (142). In population based longitudinal studies (5-10 years) hippocampal volume and atrophy rates have been shown to predict future cognitive decline in cognitively normal subjects (143–145). The combination of low hippocampal volume and high atrophy rate have been found to strongly predict progression from MCI to AD (142). Two longitudinal studies found no association with hippocampal atrophy and $A\beta_{1-42}$ and tau (121, 146). A third protein, the TAR DNA binding protein of 43kDA (TDP-43) has been found in patients with AD and is associated with increased hippocampal and amygdala neuronal loss. TDP-43 should be considered a potential factor related to increased rates of regional atrophy in early AD and further research to detect TDP-43 in-vivo is necessary (147). It estimated that the selection of subjects with smaller hippocampi will likely reduce the overall cost of a multidomain trial in amnestic MCI (148).

In all age groups, AD patients with generalized (rather than focal hippocampal) atrophy and earlier disease onset are at a higher risk of cognitive decline (149). Several unbiased wholebrain voxel studies have found a pattern in atrophied regions that mirror the pathological progression of AD in cognitively normal subjects up to a decade prior to onset of dementia (150, 151). In patients with AD, white-matter hyperintensities (p=0.003) and $A\beta_{1-42}$ (p=0.001) were independently associated with whole brain atrophy (58). Global cerebral atrophy, which reflects the neuronal cell loss typical of dementia, can be measured accurately from structural MR imaging sequences, even prior to cognitive impairment in the sensitive prodromal phase (152). In patients with suspected MCI, $A\beta_{1-42}$ (p<0.001) and tau (p=0.04) were associated with whole brain atrophy (58). In a study of 102 MCI subjects it was found that each additional percent of annualized whole brain atrophy rate was associated with a higher odds of disease progression of 1.3 (125). In a study of patients with AD, MCI and controls, a higher whole-brain atrophy rate was associated with decreased Mini Mental State Examination scores, however change in CSF biomarkers were not (125). Schott et al. (2008) found that increased annualized atrophy rates were significantly associated with rate of change in several non-memory based neuropsychological scores, providing further evidence that cerebral atrophy is a clinically relevant marker of AD progression (153).

Vascular and white matter changes in mid-adulthood can lead to a more severe white matter burden and a higher atrophy rate, increasing the risk of dementia in late-life (135, 154–159). The possible mechanisms may include chronic cerebral hypoperfusion caused by CVD that increases hypoxia and leads to inflammation and white matter damage, or oxidative stress that could lead to mitochondrial dysfunction and neuronal loss (17, 72). Limited longitudinal studies have investigated the relationship between vascular risk factors and whole-brain atrophy in a TIA/minor stroke cohort, and have found that age, diabetes, diastolic blood pressure and white-matter hyperintensities are associated with higher atrophy (86, 87). Munir et al. (2019) and Walters et al. (2003) demonstrated that annualized whole brain atrophy rates of TIA/minor stroke patients were approximately 0.85% compared to 0.4% in healthy age-matched controls (86, 87). Whole-brain atrophy rates were not associated with cognitive changes, perhaps highlighting that this population is experiencing neuro-pathological degeneration prior to cognitive decline (87). However, methodological inclusion criteria, imaging modalities, and cognitive outcomes have been inconsistent in these few studies. Preventative researchers are keen to identify a population in the crucial pre-clinical window to improve efficiency and effectiveness of future trials. Methodologically consistent measurements of brain atrophy rates may guide prevention approaches and the efficacy of vascular treatment interventions.

1.5.2 Cerebral Blood Flow and Glucose Metabolism

Cerebral blood flow (CBF) is a measure of the movement of blood through the cerebral arteries and veins. Blood vessels in the brain deliver essential nutrients to and remove metabolic waste products from the central nervous system (160). While the human brain accounts for only 2% of total body mass, it consumes 20% of the body's oxygen and glucose supply (161). Dysregulation of cerebral blood flow by vascular damage is frequently associated with and contributes to AD (160–165). AD patients show significant hypoperfusion in the right inferior parietal lobe extending into the bilateral posterior cingulate gyri and middle frontal gyri compared to healthy controls (166). An increased severity of AD, as measured by the Mini-Mental State Examination, correlates with posterior parietal and posterior cingulate decreases in perfusion, but not with temporal lobe flow (167). The two-hit vascular hypothesis of AD states that vascular risk factors and genetic factors lead to CVD, which can initiate neurodegeneration and subsequently promote the accumulation of A β_{1-42} protein in the brain (160, 168–172). Mild chronic hypoperfusion can also impair synaptic plasticity, leading to hypoxia which can inhibit action potentials and lead to imbalances in pH, electrolytes, edema, white matter lesions and lead to neuronal death (160, 161, 173).

Moderate intensity exercise has been shown to result in acute augmentation of blood flow to the brain and thus has been implicated as a potential lifestyle intervention that could help reduce the incidence of dementia and AD (174). In a prospective study with 163000 nondemented participants, it was found that physical activity reduces the risk of dementia and AD by 28% and 45%, respectively (175). Smith et al. (2010) found in a large systematic review of RCTs that exercise groups show improvements in attention, processing speed and executive function, however the effects on memory were not consistent (176). A recent review did not find any evidence of benefit from exercise in any cognitive domain, however they did include studies with minor fitness interventions (e.g. stretching) that would not be expected to increase cerebral blood flow (177). While interventions to improve cerebral blood flow are promising, RCTs must again better identify an at-risk population who will benefit strongly from intervention.

CBF can be measured in a fast and non-invasive way by arterial spin labelling (ASL) MR imaging by applying a 180° inversion radiofrequency pulse to the patient's neck slice. A second image is then acquired in the region of interest (brain) after the inversion delay (tag image). The experiment is repeated without applying a radiofrequency pulse to the neck and a control image is acquired and subsequently subtracted. Magnetically labelled water protons from the blood of the excited neck slice act as a contrast agent. Quantitative cerebral blood flow measurements (mL/min/100g) from the whole-brain and regions of interest can then be measured. MR perfusion and CT perfusion can also be used to measure cerebral blood flow with the injection of a contrast agent. While contrast imaging provides a higher signal to noise ratio than ASL-MR imaging, it also has the disadvantage of a contrast injection which can cause a serious allergic reaction in some participants. Studies have investigated the prognostic value of ASL-MR imaging in prodromal AD In a meta-analysis of regions of interest, patients with MCI have significant cohorts. hypoperfusion (p<0.001) compared to controls, and CBF was significantly correlated with the Clinical Dementia Rating scale (r=-0.32, p=0.001) (178). Specifically, lower perfusion has been found in the parietal lobes, the middle temporal areas, the left middle occipital lobe and the precuneus in MCI patients compared to healthy controls (179–182). Hypoperfusion in the right precuneus and cuneus correlated with poorer Mini-Mental State Examination and the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test scores in MCI subjects (182). Finally, in a single longitudinal study with ASL-MR imaging, significant regional hypoperfusion in the right inferior parietal cortex,

middle frontal cortex, and precuneus was observed in 13 patients who converted from mild cognitive impairment to dementia (181).

Regional CBF and glucose metabolism are generally tightly coupled and have proven to identify similar regional abnormalities with a comparable diagnostic accuracy in AD patients (38, 39). Therefore, metabolic neuroimaging techniques can also be compared to conventional CBF measurements. Positron emission tomography (PET) has also been used for atrophy studies and functions by injecting small amounts of a radiotracer which localizes to a specific pathological protein/molecule or metabolic process in the brain, allowing for its precise quantitation and localization. ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) is a PET radiotracer that is a measure of cerebral glucose metabolism and is therefore useful in AD to detect characteristic regional hypometabolism (183). FDG-PET can distinguish AD subjects from normal controls with 99% sensitivity and 98% specificity (184). Specifically, bilateral tempero-parietal hypometabolism is the characteristic pattern associated with pathologically confirmed AD (185). Four studies with small sample sizes have found overlap in the hypometabolic regions associated with conversion from MCI to AD with FDG-PET – inferior parietal cortex, inferior parietal and medial temporal cortex (186–189). FDG-PET in combination with other proven biomarkers of dementia, namely cerebrospinal fluid samples, has successfully predicted the prognosis of AD (183).

Comparing 17 AD patients and 19 age-matched controls, qualitative similarities of the regional distribution of decreased CBF (by ASL-MR imaging) and diminished FDG-PET uptake shows many parallels with visual inspection, with classically affected regions (including the temporal and parietal lobes) showing deficits in both regions (39). A discrepancy was found in the frontal lobe, which showed significant hypometabolism with FDG-PET, however did not reach statistical significance on ASL-MR imaging (39). This may be due to image artifact, perfusion-

metabolism mismatch, or reader inexperience with ASL. True perfusion-metabolism mismatch may occur because ASL is susceptible to artifact due to vascular compromise, such as arterial stenosis. Qualitative analysis yielded similar sensitivity and specificity for AD detection with both modalities, with area under curve (AUC) of approximately 90% for both imaging techniques (39). Both FDG-PET and ASL-MR imaging show potential to be used as a marker for trial inclusion or stratification, although changes in cognitively normal subjects are extremely small, and thresholds for abnormality should be established (118).

Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) is a nuclear medicine tomographic imaging technique that utilizes a specific marker radioisotope. A high concentration of the ligand can be seen in three dimensions by a gamma camera. Ethyl cysteinate dimer (ECD) SPECT can measure cerebral perfusion and is considered to be a reliable marker reflecting neuronal injury (114). There is vast literature on the utility of SPECT in the diagnosis of AD, as it was used before FDG-PET became widely available. When comparing ASL-MR imaging and SPECT, ASL shows significantly lower relative cerebral blood flow values (190). However, the reported levels of agreement among cortical blood flow between ASL-MR imaging and SPECT perfusion remains highly variable (191, 192). The limitations of ECD-SPECT include low spatial resolution and lack of absolute values for quantification (193).

CBF changes in mid-life are a promising biomarker for future dementia risk, as regional hypoperfusion may precede neuronal atrophy and cognitive decline, according to the two-hit vascular hypothesis.

1.5.3 Molecular Biomarkers
The measurement and quantification of beta amyloid (A β_{1-42}) and tau levels can be useful to monitor the AD pathology. Cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) biomarkers, measured by lumbar puncture, are valuable to detect neurodegenerative disease in vivo because the brain interstitial fluid is in direct with the CSF by unrestricted bi-directional flow of proteins (194). Three core CSF biomarkers for early AD diagnosis, B-amyloid (A β_{1-42}), total tau (T-tau) and phospho-tau (P-tau), have been assessed in numerous studies (195). These CSF biomarkers reflect key aspects of disease pathogenesis, including neuronal and axonal degeneration, hyperphosphorylation of tau with tangle formation, and aggregation and deposition of the A β 42 peptide into plaques, respectively (196). As plaque formation captures $A\beta$ in the brain, a reduction of CSF $A\beta$ reflects cerebral amyloid deposition and shows a very high concordance with amyloid PET (197). An increase in CSF T-tau reflects the intensity of neurodegeneration in AD, however can also be found in other neurodegenerative diseases and acute stroke (197). High CSF P-tau is specific to phosphorylatedtau found only in AD (197). Extended longitudinal studies have investigated the diagnostic accuracy of core AD CSF biomarkers for prodromal AD and found very high sensitivity and specificity to identify MCI conversion to AD (198-201). Variability in measurements between clinical laboratories, and over time between batches of reagents remains a problem with CSF biomarkers (202). Furthermore, lumbar punctures are often regarded as invasive, time-consuming and complicated for clinicians. In the future, blood biomarkers may replace CSF biomarkers. Preliminary plasma assays for $A\beta_{1-42}$ suggest high performance in predicting cerebral amyloid burden, making it a promising minimally invasive pre-clinical biomarker, although currently it is still difficult to measure the molecular mechanisms of AD at these significantly lower concentrations (203, 204).

N-methyl-[¹¹C]2-(4'-methylaminophenyl)-6-hydroxybenothiazole, The radiotracer commonly referred to as Pittsburgh Compound B (PiB), was the first PET radiotracer to investigate amyloid imaging in 2004 (205). PiB is a radioligand that readily crosses the blood-brain barrier and binds to amyloid-beta 40 and 42 (206). Several studies have compared PiB-PET to postmortem histopathology which confirmed a direct correlation between amyloid levels in the frontal cortex and confirmed AD diagnosis (207, 208). Studies have shown a good concordance of CSF $A\beta_{1-42}$ and amyloid PET measures, although these markers may represent different pools of amyloid in the brain (209). Amyloid pathology measured with PET is an established prognostic marker in subjects with MCI and is associated with an increased risk of cognitive decline and progression to dementia in cognitively normal subjects (187, 210, 219, 220, 211–218). A ten-year longitudinal study found that increased amyloid burden in MCI patients significantly correlated with declines in verbal learning and memory, but not visual memory (213). However, further research investigating the ability of PiB-PET to predict conversion from MCI to AD has found conflicting results, thus highlighting the need for sufficiently long follow-up and large data sets to establish the exact relationship (183, 219–222). Unfortunately, the positive predictive value of PiB-PET is low, given that up to 35% of cognitively normal older people have positive amyloid PET results (223, 224). It has been suggested that the rate at which amyloid positivity and later cognitive decline occur may be dependent on the presence of neurodegeneration (225, 226). Furthermore, PET is difficult to implement because of the limited access to infrastructure, the brief half-life of many radiotracers, invasiveness, expense, and time requirements.

In a recent study, a combination of demographic information, apolipoprotein E4 genotyping and neuropsychological changes over 2 years had a positive predictive value 60% higher in detecting pre-clinical amyloid-positive subjects than CSF amyloid alone (227).

26

Therefore, a step-wise approach to subject inclusion, including clinical information and structural MR imaging should be implemented to screen patients for increased risk of amyloid pathology (118). Amyloid pathology is necessary to determine whether an individual will show cognitive decline due to AD pathology, but is not sufficient to stage disease progress or predict the rate of decline (118).

1.6 Cognitive Predictors of Dementia

The long preclinical period prior to dementia, where pathology precedes cognitive impairment, constitutes a new window for both risk factor reduction and secondary prevention of AD. A clinical diagnosis of MCI/AD is centered on the establishment of cognitive impairment, rather than the prodromal neuropathological changes (228). Further, cognitive tests have been largely derived by comparing those with AD to those without (228). Therefore, the methodology of secondary prevention trials have been handicapped by the lack of proximal cognitive markers (228). While a cognitive profile capable of tracking subtle cognitive changes is not yet well established, early decrements in episodic and semantic memory measured by specific cognitive tests have been identified consistently (229, 230). Some studies have found that general standard cognitive screening tests, such as the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), can detect those who show later-life cognitive decline (231). However, the MMSE does not examine executive functions, and as with many cognitive tests, performance is affected by age, ethnicity, co-morbid treatments, and education level (amongst other factors) (232). It has also been shown that neuropsychological testing is susceptible to false-positive diagnostic errors in patients with suspected MCI (233, 234). The relationship between cognitive tests and biomarkers in early AD remains discordant, likely due to varied methodologies, few large longitudinal studies, and heterogeneity in the definition of MCI/at-risk populations. The combination of neuroimaging

biomarkers and specific cognitive tests is promising for better prediction of early disease progression (235). Neuroimaging outcomes also have the advantage over standard cognitive testing due to statistical efficiency, which would ultimately lead to efficiency and power within clinical trials (236). As specific cognitive tests for subtle cognitive changes continue to be validated, a combination of neuroimaging biomarkers and neuropsychological examinations are necessary to create a meaningful profile of those at highest risk of developing late-life cognitive decline.

1.7 Conclusion

Currently, there is no cure for dementia and preventative strategies are urgently needed. Advanced neuroimaging diagnostics, such as magnetic resonance (MR) imaging may be able to detect early cerebral abnormalities that are predictive of late-life cognitive decline and subsequently provide an opportunity for early intervention. Patients with TIA have a 4-fold increased risk in developing late-life cognitive decline, likely due to their common modifiable risk factors with dementias, and are thus a suitable group for the study of pre-clinical dementia. The Predementia Neuroimaging of Transient Ischemic Attack (PREVENT) Study is unique in that it aims to identify late-life cognitive decline risk prior to clinical symptoms in a TIA population.

1.8 Thesis Rationale and Experimental Approach

Patients with TIA and healthy controls will be recruited from the on-going Predementia Neuroimaging of Transient Ischemic Attack (PREVENT) Study, which encompasses baseline, 1year, 3-year and 5-year follow-up appointments. Each appointment consists of clinical brain MR imaging, clinical data collection, a blood test, a cognitive battery, and an optional lumbar puncture.



Figure 1-1. The PREVENT Study flowchart.

The PREVENT study started recruitment in April 2015 and is very close to reaching the target sample size of 360 subjects at Y0 and anticipate that subject recruitment will be complete by 2019. Currently, we are performing Y1 follow-up examinations. As expected, there has been an attrition rate of 10% for TIA participants and 5% for controls

This thesis aims to:

- a. Determine whether TIA patients have abnormal rates of whole brain atrophy rate (mL/year) using high-resolution T1-weighted MR imaging over a 1-year period.
 - b. Identify clinical and vascular risk factors that are associated with increased rates of whole brain atrophy rates over a 1-year period.
 - c. Determine whether increase rates of whole brain atrophy are associated with a change in cognition over a 1-year period.
- a. Determine whether TIA patients have abnormal cross-sectional regional cerebral blood flow measured by ASL-MR imaging (cerebral blood flow) (mL/min/100g).
 - b. Identify clinical and vascular risk factors that are associated with regional cerebral blood flow.

c. Determine whether decreased regional cerebral blood flow is associated with cognitive outcomes.

In <u>aim 1a and b</u>, we modeled whole-brain atrophy rates as the outcome variable and aimed to determine if the presence of TIA and vascular risk factors are associated with a change in the response. <u>In aim 1c</u>, we modeled longitudinal cognitive change as the outcome variable in effort to determine the effect of higher rates of whole-brain atrophy. In <u>aim 2 a and b</u>, we modeled cerebral blood flow as the outcome variable and sought to determine if TIA status and vascular risk factors are associated with regional CBF decreases. <u>In aim 2c</u>, we used cross-sectional cognitive scores as outcome variables and aimed to determine if the presence of regional CBF decreases predicted cognition. In both models, we adjusted for the effects of covariates such as age, sex, depression, normalized brain volume, white matter hyperintensities, diffusion weighted lesion volume, and premorbid intellect.

The thesis aims to characterize the preclinical stages of cognitive decline in TIA by using whole-brain atrophy rates and cerebral blood flow measured by MR imaging. Moreover, the project aims to study how vascular risk factors impact our imaging outcome variables. Finally, we aim to understand the relationship of our neuroimaging biomarkers and sensitive cognitive measures. It is crucial to identify and understand the prodromal phase of dementia to implement therapeutic strategies to prevent dementia. We aim to demonstrate that TIA participants are the optimal group for targeting preventative strategies with evidence of macroscopic neuronal loss (whole brain atrophy) and regional decreased CBF. These correlations will clarify the relationship between vascular risk factors and early cerebral pathological changes preceding clinical dementia.

Early identification through neuroimaging and cognitive measures will help advance scientific knowledge to better identify those at greatest risk of late-life cognitive decline. Subsequently, this research will inform us about future clinical dementia prevention trial designs and sample size calculations to optimize therapies and promote healthy brain aging.

CHAPTER TWO: LONGITUDINAL STUDY OF COGNITION AND BRAIN ATROPHY RATES IN TRANSIENT ISCHEMIC ATTACK PATIENTS

Meaghan Reid, Noaah Reaume, Pauline Wu, Alex Pan, Arooj Aftab, Rani Gupta Sah, Meng Wang, Richard Frayne, Shelagh B. Coutts, Tolulope T. Sajobi, Richard Stewart Longman, Christopher D. d'Esterre, Philip A. Barber (2019). Longitudinal study of cognition and brain atrophy rates in transient ischemic attack patients. *Neurology*. In submission.

2.1 Preface

Excerpts from this chapter form the basis of an article in submission to *Neurology*. TTS, RSL, RF, SBC and PAB have made substantial contributions to the conception and design of this study. NR, PW, AP, AA and MR were involved in coordinating the study, recruitment, administering neuropsychological tests and data collection. MW and TTS provided significant statistical guidance for this project. RSL conceptualized the neuropsychological test battery and oversaw research assistant training for administration. RF provided guidance related to imaging modalities and the conceptual framework for analysis. RGS provided expertise in image processing. MR, CDD and PAB wrote the draft of the manuscript and all authors were involved in revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors have given full approval of the version to be published.

2.2 Introduction

It is projected that worldwide, 50 million people are living with dementia in 2018 and this number will more than triple to 152 million by 2050 (237). Dementia is caused by progressive neuronal loss leading to brain atrophy and depletion of neurotransmitters (9). It is estimated that a progressive pre-clinical phase of dementia may span more than twenty years and is related to the co-existence of vascular risk factors (e.g., hypertension, diabetes) and lifestyle risk factors in midlife (e.g., smoking, obesity) (109, 238). Transient ischemic attack (TIA) is a common medical emergency and characterized by temporary stroke symptoms. Within 3 months of TIA symptoms,

a third of patients have documented impairment of at least one cognitive domain, including working memory, attention, and information processing speed, which is not fully explained by clinical brain infarcts (82). Additionally, following TIA there is an increased risk of dementia; age and sex-matched adjusted incidence of post-event dementia at 1 year for TIA patients is associated with a 4-fold increase within 12 months and a 10% incidence of dementia over five years (49, 84). Nevertheless, the relationship between TIA and late-life cognitive impairment remains poorly understood (49). Studying longitudinal changes in cognitive measures and magnetic resonance (MR) data following TIA data may help determine the biomarkers that identify an individual's imminent risk of cognitive decline in the future. TIA patients generally can cooperate better with neuropsychological assessments than stroke patients, who are more likely to be older and have more severe disability (88) thereby avoiding ascertainment bias and high attrition rates caused by stroke-related co-morbidity and frailty (89).

Higher macroscopic brain loss (longitudinal cerebral atrophy) measured by MR imaging is an established neuroimaging biomarker associated with increased cognitive decline in mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients, and predicts MCI progression to AD (58, 125). To date, there are few longitudinal studies that have investigated the relationship between vascular risk factors and cerebral atrophy rates in TIA patients with neuropsychological outcomes (86, 87).

In this longitudinal cohort study of cognitively normal TIA patients, we aim to determine the cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) measured with repeated high-resolution T1-MR imaging in TIA participants and age and education-matched controls. We also aim to identify clinical and vascular risk factors that are associated with increased rates of annualized cerebral atrophy rates.

33

Finally, we aim to determine the associations between cerebral atrophy rates and cognitive changes over 1 year.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Study Population

Consecutive patients presenting with first documented TIA and non-TIA control volunteers (ages 45-80) were prospectively recruited to the Predementia Neuroimaging of Transient Ischemic Attack (PREVENT) study approved by the University of Calgary Research Ethics Board between April 2015 and December 2019 (239). TIA participants were recruited through the Emergency Department at the Foothills Medical Centre or Calgary Stroke Prevention Clinic within 48 hours of initial symptoms, and the diagnosis of TIA was confirmed by a stroke neurologist. Transient ischemic attack was defined according to the National Institute of Neurological Disease and Stroke Criteria (240). There was a formal review of all cases by a senior neurologist (PAB) who confirmed the final diagnosis of TIA and inclusion into the study. Volunteer control participants were recruited to the PREVENT Study through the community (e.g., hospital and community centre advertisements) and spousal partners. All participants were included if they had no clinical symptoms of cognitive impairment or dementia as defined by the National Institute of Aging -Alzheimer Association Criteria (241), Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (242) scores between 24-30, had no contraindication to MR imaging, and were fluent in English. TIA or control subjects were excluded if there was: significant other neurologic disease (Parkinson's disease, multi-infarct dementia, seizure disorder, MS) or history of significant head trauma; psychiatric disorders (major depression, bipolar disorder or schizophrenia) as defined by DSM-5 criteria (24); alcohol or substance abuse or dependence within the past 2 years; any significant systemic illness or unstable medical condition; and/or current use of specific psychoactive medications (e.g.,

certain antidepressants, neuroleptics, chronic anxiolytics, or sedative hypnotics, etc.). All TIA participants had an MR scan within 14 days of their initial symptoms. All subjects provided written informed consent.

2.3.2 Clinical Data Collection

All study procedures were performed at baseline (BL) examination and approximately 1year follow-up (FU) after TIA. Procedures included a medical evaluation, which was comprised of clinical characteristics, demographics, medical history and medication profiles that were collected through patient self-reporting and corroborated when possible by medical charts and pharmacological profiles. An average of two blood pressure readings was measured at baseline. Alcohol use was defined by self-report of >2 alcohol drinks per day; tobacco risk was defined by past or previous regular use of tobacco. All TIA patients were managed according to current stroke prevention guidelines.

A standardized neuropsychological battery was administered by a trained researcher at both time points that closely aligned with that of the Alzheimer's Disease Network Initiative (ADNI) (243), supplemented with tests for visual memory and frontal executive function. The memory domain was tested with the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMT), total and delayed recall (244) and the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, total trial 6 (245). The processing speed domain was tested by the WAIS-IV Digit Symbol Coding test (246). The executive functioning domain was tested with the Trail Making Test B (247). Other tests included: the mean ordinal raw score of the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination Revised (ACE-R) categorical verbal fluency and total score (248, 249); the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA) (250); the premorbid intelligence calculated from the North American Adult Reading Test (NAART) (251); and

depressive symptoms from the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), total (252). Different versions of the BVMT-R, MOCA, RAVLT and ACE-R were used at follow-up to minimize learning effects.

2.3.3 Image Acquisition

Participants underwent MR imaging at baseline (BL) and 1 year follow-up (FU) using a 3.0T Diagnostic MR scanner (General Electric Discovery 750), using a 12-channel head and neck coil. T1-weighted images, T2-weighted fluid-attenuated recovery (FLAIR) sequences, and diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) sequences were analyzed. The T1-weighted images were acquired using a 3D inversion recovery prepared spoiled gradient-echo sequence (3D; field of view (FOV) = 24 cm; one hundred and seventy-six 1.0 mm slice with a 0 mm gap; acquisition matrix = 256 x 256; TE = 2.932 ms; TR = 6.66 ms; flip angle = 8°; inversion time (TI) = 650 ms; phase FOV = 85%; reconstructed voxel size = 5392 mm isotropic). The 2D DWI sequence was acquired with an acquisition matrix size = 256×256 , FOV = 28 cm, twenty-three 3.0 mm slice with 0 mm gap; TE = 81.7 ms, TR = 8000 ms, flip angle = 90°. The 3D T2-weighted FLAIR sequence was acquired with an acquisition matrix size = 512×512 ; FOV = 24 cm; thirty-eight 3.0 mm slice with a 0 mm gap; TE = 120.0 ms, TR = 8524 ms, TI = 2219 ms, flip angle = 90°. Quality assurance to detect poor image quality (low signal-to-noise, or high levels of image artifact or distortion) was manually performed to ensure image quality.

2.3.4 Image Processing

All image data was anonymized and reading/processing of scans was performed blinded to all demographic and outcome data. Each imaging modality was processed independently. Specifically, formal adjudication of the image quality was graded according to neck and head movement, quality of registration and intensity inhomogeneities by two trained individuals (PAB, MR).

2.3.5 Percentage Brain Volume Change

Brain tissue volume, normalized for subject head size, was measured with SIENAX (253, 254). Longitudinal cerebral atrophy (two-time point percentage brain volume change) was measured with SIENA (254, 255), part of FSL (254). SIENA extracted brain and skull images from the BL and FU time points for the whole-head input data (256). The two brain images were then aligned to each other (257, 258) (using the skull images to constrain the registration scaling); both brain images were resampled into the space halfway between the two image volumes. Next, tissue-type segmentation was carried out (259) in order to find brain/non-brain edge points, and then perpendicular edge displacement (between the two-time points) was estimated at these edge points. Finally, the mean edge displacement was converted into a (global) estimate of percentage brain volume change between the two-time points. Each processed MR image underwent quality control assessment, which included ensuring proper brain extraction results that did not include non-brain tissue, proper registration to MNI-152 template and accurate segmentation of the whole brain. Cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) were calculated from normalized baseline brain volume and percentage brain volume change.



Figure 2-1. Example of FSL SIENA final brain edge movement image.

2.3.6 White Matter Hyperintensities and Diffusion Lesions

White matter hyperintensities (WMH) at baseline were segmented from FLAIR images using Cerebra-WML software, a semi-automated software measuring the volume (mL) of white matter lesions based on the global threshold and contrast between the different cerebral anatomical regions (260). DWI lesions were defined by clinical radiologists by the presence of hyperintense lesion on the DWI map with corresponding hypointensity on the apparent diffusion coefficient map. Acute diffusion lesions were segmented from the DWI images with ITK-SNAP (Version 3.6.0, www.itksnap.org), a semi-automatic software application used to segment structures in 3D medical images by a trained researcher (MR) and underwent quality control by a stroke neurologist (PAB) (261). The apparent diffusion coefficient decline associated with acute ischemia persists for 10 days and then normalizes, but the T2 component of the DWI lesion persists much longer for up to several weeks. Therefore, the <14 days window should identify acute DWI lesions with confidence and addresses the practical constraint of obtaining acute MR imaging for TIA patients.

2.3.7 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed on STATA IC/15.0 (StataCorp. 2017. Stat Statistical Software: Release 15. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC). Descriptive statistics were used to compare the mean (median for non-parametric data), standard deviations (interquartile ranges) and

frequency distributions of all variables. Two-way two-sample *t*-tests and Chi square tests (α = 0.05) were used to compare patients' demographic, clinical, and cognitive characteristics between the TIA and control participants. Wilcoxon-Rank Sum tests were (α = 0.05) used to compare WMH burden and DWI volumes at baseline and 1 year between TIA and control participants. Published cognitive normative data was compared to our control population (age and education-matched) using calculated two-way two-sample independent *t*-tests (α = 0.05). Pairwise-correlations and Wilcoxon-Signed rank tests were used to analyze changes from baseline to follow-up cognition.

All data for multiple linear regression fit the basic required assumptions including a linear relationship between the outcome variable and the independent variables, normally distributed residuals, no multicollinearity and homoscedasticity. The associations between baseline risk factors (including demographic, medical, WMH burden, WMH change, depression, MMSE, and premorbid intellect) and longitudinal rates of cerebral atrophy were tested using a backwards stepwise multiple linear regression. Variables with the highest p-values were removed until the adjusted R-square value no longer improved. Multiple linear regression was performed to analyze the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and cognitive profiles (baseline and 1-year change) while controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, WMH and NBV.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Demographics

Seventy (70) TIA patients and 39 control participants were initially included in the study following inclusion criteria, complete clinical/demographic information at both time points and complete baseline and follow-up MR imaging sequences. Eleven (11) TIA and 5 control participants were excluded because of poor image quality. Poor registration observed in these 16

cases was due to primarily due to motion artifact (4), intensity inhomogeneities (9) and poor head positioning (3). A total of 59 TIA patients and 34 control participants were included in the analysis. Demographic, clinical and vascular baseline factors for both the TIA and control population are summarized in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1. Demographic information, medical information and two-way two-sample *t*-tests of significance and Chi-square tests for demographic and clinical data of TIA and control participants ($\propto = 0.05$). IQR = interquartile range, WMH = white matter hyperintensities normalized by brain volume, NBV = normalized brain volume, DWI = diffusion weighted image lesion, BL = baseline, FU = follow-up.

Characteristics	TIA (n=59)	Control (n=34)	р
Age, years	66.31 ± 8.51	63.85 ± 8.31	0.183
Sex, <i>n women</i> (%)	26 (44.1%)	21 (61.8%)	0.102
Education, years	13.93 ± 2.34	14.60 ± 3.00	0.226
Baseline to Follow-Up, days	459.1 ± 124	484.3 ± 106	0.324
Depression, raw CES-D	11.27 ± 8.31	10.00 ± 8.30	0.479
Premorbid Intellect,	109.5 ± 9.70	112.2 ± 7.59	0.165
WMH BL, median (IQR)*	2.141 (1.1-3.7)	1.170 (0.79-3.0)	0.079
WMH FU, median (IQR)*	2.214 (1.4-4.6)	1.650 (1.0-3.2)	0.074
NBV, cm^3	1448 ± 74.1	1473 ± 80.9	0.118
Systolic BP, mmHG	138.0 ± 19.3	130.1 ± 17.2	0.052
DWI, n participants (%)	19.00 (32.2)	0	0.000
DWI Volume BL, <i>median</i> $cm^3(IQR)^*$	26.89 (10.4-48.5)	0	0.000
DWI Volume FU, median mm ³ (IQR)	0.000	0.000	1.000
Statin Treatment, n (%)	27 (45.8%)	6 (17.6%)	0.006
Hypertension Treatment, n (%)	28 (47.5%)	10 (29.4%)	0.087
Diabetes, n (%)	4 (6.70%)	1 (2.90%)	0.431
Tobacco, <i>n (%)</i>	30 (50.8%)	15 (44.1%)	0.534
Alcohol, <i>n (%)</i>	4 (6.80%)	0	0.123

*Wilcoxon-Rank Sum tests used.

The TIA and control population did not significantly differ in sex, age, education, and all other factors excluding statin treatment (p=0.006), DWI (p<0.001) and white matter

hyperintensities normalized by brain volume at baseline and follow-up (p=0.079 and p=0.074, respectively).

The cognitive profiles were compared between the TIA and control participants using independent Wilcoxon Rank-Sum test at baseline and 1 year follow-up [Table 2-2].

Table 2-2. Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests of cognitive domains comparing TIA and control participants ($\propto = 0.05$). MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, ACE-R = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment. A) Baseline. B) 1 year follow-up.

	TIA (n=5	59)	Control	(n=34)	р
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	
MMSE	30.0	29.0-30.0	30.0	29.0-30.0	0.521
MOCA	26.0	23.0-28.0	27.5	25.0-29.0	0.046
ACE-R	92.0	88.0-97.0	95.0	91.0-98.0	0.051
BVMT Total	22.0	17.0-28.0	25.0	19.0-30.0	0.242
BVMT Delayed	10.0	7.00-11.0	11.0	8.00-12.0	0.194
RAVLT	10.0	7.00-12.0	11.5	9.00-14.0	0.114
WAIS-IV DS Coding	56.0	49.0-65.0	65.0	53.0-73.0	0.016
TMT A	33.0	27.3-44.0	28.4	22.7-33.6	0.002
TMT B	71.0	59.0-94.0	63.2	48.0-79.1	0.024
Verbal Fluency, raw total from ACE-R	15.5	12.0-15.5	15.5	12.0-18.0	0.297

B) Follow-Up

A) Reseline

	TIA (n=	59)	Control	(n=34)	р
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	
MOCA	26.0	24.0-29.0	28.0	26.0-29.0	0.055
ACE-R	93.0	89.0-96.0	95.5	91.0-98.0	0.034
BVMT Total	26.0	20.0-30.0	25.0	20.0-31.0	0.607
BVMT Delayed	10.0	8.00-12.0	10.0	8.00-12.0	0.929
RAVLT	10.0	6.00-12.0	12.0	9.00-14.0	0.021
WAIS-IV DS Coding	67.5	57.0-82.0	68.5	57.0-79.0	0.836
TMT A	31.7	27.1-38.6	27.3	25.0-37.0	0.074
TMT B	69.3	56.2-98.1	66.4	47.9-81.4	0.134
Verbal Fluency, raw total from ACE-R	15.5	11.0-18.0	15.5	12.0-18.0	0.417

At baseline, the control participants had significantly higher MOCA scores (p=0.046), WAIS-IV DS Coding (p=0.016), TMT A (p=0.002) and B scores (p=0.024). In the 1 year follow-up, control participants had significantly higher ACE-R scores (p=0.034) and RAVLT scores (p=0.021) compared to TIA patients.

Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests found that TIA participants had significantly higher cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) compared to the control population (-11.79mL/year [IQR = (-14.89) - (-5.73)] and -7.80mL/year [IQR = (-14.9) - (-5.727)], respectively; p=0.037), although the baseline normalized brain volume (cm³) was not significantly different in the two populations [Figure 2-2].



Figure 2-2. The cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) of the TIA (*n*=59) and control (*n*=34) participants. **A**) The box plots of cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year). **B**) The independent cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and age of the TIA and control participants.

Wilcoxon-Signed Rank tests and pairwise correlations coefficients were calculated to determine the change in cognitive scores over 1 year [Table 2-3 A and B]. TIA participants significantly improved over 1 year in BVMT total (p=0.006), BVMT Delayed (p=0.045), and the

WAIS-IV Digit Symbol coding (p=0.000). Control participants significantly decreased in the BVMT delayed (p=0.035), and significantly improved in the BVMT total (p=0.007) and WAIS-IV DS Coding (p=0.000).

Table 2-3. Wilcoxon-Signed Rank tests and pairwise correlation coefficients (r) of cognitive domains comparing baseline and 1 year follow-up scores ($\alpha = 0.05$). MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, ACE-R = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment. A) TIA patients. B) Control subjects.

A) TIA Patients

	Baseline		Follow-U	р	р	r
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR		
MOCA	26.0	23.0-28.0	26.0	24.0-29.0	0.220	0.363
ACE-R	92.0	88.0-97.0	93.0	89.0-96.0	0.922	0.670
BVMT Total	22.0	17.0-28.0	26.0	20.0-30.0	0.006	0.612
BVMT Delayed	10.0	7.00-11.0	10.0	8.00-12.0	0.045	0.691
RAVLT	10.0	7.00-12.0	10.0	6.00-12.0	0.255	0.763
WAIS-IV DS Coding	56.0	49.0-65.0	67.5	57.0-82.0	0.000	0.486
TMT A	33.0	27.3-44.0	31.7	27.1-38.6	0.314	0.701
TMT B	71.0	59.0-94.0	69.3	56.2-98.1	0.251	0.714
Verbal Fluency, raw total from ACE-R	7.00	6.00-7.00	7.00	6.00-8.00	0.582	0.493

B) Control Subjects

	Baseline		Follow-U	р	р	r
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR		
MOCA	27.5	25.0-29.0	28.0	26.0-29.0	0.264	0.476
ACE-R	95.0	91.0-98.0	95.5	91.0-98.0	0.951	0.742
BVMT Total	25.0	19.0-30.0	25.0	20.0-31.0	0.007	0.770
BVMT Delayed	11.0	8.00-12.0	10.0	8.00-12.0	0.035	0.658
RAVLT	11.5	9.00-14.0	12.0	9.00-14.0	0.201	0.773
WAIS-IV DS Coding	65.0	53.0-73.0	68.5	57.0-79.0	0.000	0.522
TMT A	28.4	22.7-33.6	27.3	25.0-37.0	0.236	0.549
TMT B	63.2	48.0-79.1	66.4	47.9-81.4	0.229	0.613
Verbal Fluency, raw total from ACE-R	7.00	6.00-8.00	7.00	6.00-8.00	0.421	0.522



Figure 2-3. Median cognitive scores of TIA (n=59) and control (n=34) participants from baseline to 1 year follow up with interquartile range. **A**) Median raw scores. **B**) Median time (s) of TMT scores. * = Raw score divided by 10, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test.

Normative neuropsychological literature was then compared to our control data, age and education-matched when possible in Table 2-4. The control participants in our study had a significantly better BVMT Delayed score and shorter time (s) to complete the TMT-A test, although it should be noted that the BVMT demographics were slightly inconsistent between the two groups.

Table 2-4. Two-way two-sample *t*-tests comparing neuropsychological data between published normative results and our control population ($\propto = 0.05$). Our control population had an average age of 63.85 ± 8.43 and education of 14.60 ± 2.90 years. MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment.

	Norr	Normative Values from Literature			Control (n=34)	р
	n	Age [sd]	Education [sd]	Mean [sd]	Mean [sd]	
MMSE (262)	358	65-69	>12	29.0 [1.300]	29.3 [0.221]	0.256
BVMT Total (244)	51	61.5 [4.5]	13.9 [2.5]	22.2 5.500	24.0 [7.574]	0.201
BVMT Delayed (244)	51	61.5 [4.5]	13.9 [2.5]	8.40 [2.100]	9.88 [2.240]	0.003
RAVLT (263)	56	50-64	>12	10.0 [2.600]	10.8 [3.514]	0.223
WAIS-IV DS Coding	100	55-64	13-15	60.0 [15.25]	64.0 [13.20]	0.175
(246)						
TMT A (264)	31	61.9 [15]	15.4 [1.2]	33.2 [9.100]	28.4 [6.487]	0.016
TMT B (264)	31	61.9 [15]	15.4 [1.2]	64.6 [18.59]	65.3 [19.96]	0.879
MOCA (265)	95	65-75	University	27.1 [1.700]	26.7 [2.745]	0.369
			Degree			

2.4.2 Multiple Linear Regression

Backwards stepwise multiple linear regression was used to analyze the associations between risk factors (control vs. TIA, age, sex, education, normalized brain volume, premorbid intellect, depression, white matter hyperintensities/normalized brain volume, change in WMH burden, DWI volume, systolic blood pressure, hyperlipidemia, hypertensive, diabetes, tobacco, and MMSE screening) and annualized cerebral atrophy (mL/year). Higher age and systolic blood pressure were both significantly associated with increased cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) [Table 2-5].

Table 2-5. Final backwards stepwise multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between risk factors and cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year). DWI = Diffusion weighted imaging lesion, MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination.

		Adjusted R -squared = 0.2210
		Model p value = 0.0000
	β Coefficient	<i>p</i> value
TIA Status	-0.125	0.290
Age	-0.021	0.002
Premorbid Intellect	0.008	0.186
DWI Volume	-0.000	0.253
Systolic Blood Pressure	-0.006	0.050
Hypertensive Status	-0.146	0.209
Alcohol	0.305	0.263
Baseline MMSE	-0.049	0.263

Multiple linear regression was performed to analyze the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and baseline cognitive profiles over 1 year while controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, WMH and NBV [Table 2-6]. No significant relationships with longitudinal cognition and atrophy rates were found.

Table 2-6. Multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and baseline cognitive scores. This model is controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, white matter hyperintensities and normalized brain volume. BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test.

	Cerebral Atrophy	Rate (mL/y)	Model
BL Cognitive Score	β -Coefficient	p value	Adj R-squared
BVMT-Total	0.006	0.453	0.158
BVMT-Delayed	0.008	0.707	0.154
RAVLT	0.116	0.509	0.157
TMT A	-0.006	0.381	0.160
TMT B	-0.001	0.442	0.159
Verbal Fluency	0.033	0.973	0.153

Multiple linear regression was performed to analyze the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and cognitive changes over 1 year while controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, WMH and NBV [Table 2-7]. No significant relationships with longitudinal cognition and cerebral atrophy rates were found.

Table 2-7. Multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between cerebral atrophy rates (mL/year) and change in cognition over a year. This model is controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, white matter hyperintensities and normalized brain volume. BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test.

	Cerebral Atrophy	Rate (mL/y)	Model
Change in Cognitive Score	β -Coefficient	p value	Adj R-squared
BVMT-Total	-0.530	0.664	0.033
BVMT-Delayed	-0.232	0.619	0.002
RAVLT	0.353	0.494	0.085
TMT A	-3.134	0.080	0.040
TMT B	-0.881	0.905	-0.046
Verbal Fluency	-0.092	0.696	0.099

2.5 Discussion

This study demonstrates that TIA patients have a higher cerebral rate of atrophy over 1 year compared to an age and education-matched control cohort. Increasing age and systolic blood pressure are associated with higher cerebral atrophy rates in both TIA and control participants. The TIA cohort has significantly higher WMH volumes, DWI lesions and cholesterol treatment than the control cohort, yet we found no relationship of these covariates with cerebral atrophy rates. Further, we did not find a significant association with hypertension treatment, diabetes, DWI lesion volumes, alcohol or smoking with increased cerebral atrophy rates. The absence of a relationship with cerebral atrophy rates and DWI lesions might support our hypothesis that the changes in brain volume are related to chronic progressive incipient neurodegenerative or vascular mechanisms. Further longitudinal data will be required to confirm whether these whole brain volume changes persist or even progress over time, and explore potential clinical, cognitive and biological predictors of increased whole brain atrophy rates. Nonetheless, our findings corroborate previous

studies that show higher longitudinal rates of cerebral atrophy in TIA/minor stroke participants (86, 87).

TIA participants in our study had a mean percentage annualized cerebral atrophy rate of -0.82% versus -0.53% for the control group. Rates of cerebral atrophy have been shown to parallel clinical and pre-clinical dementia progression, and therefore are frequently used as a disease biomarker for clinical dementia trials (121). Cerebral atrophy rates are estimated to be -1.1% in patients with suspected mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and between -2% and -3% in established AD (58, 124). Each additional percent of annualized cerebral atrophy rates in MCI patients is associated with a 1.3 x higher odds of disease progression to AD (125). TIA patients have a lower atrophy rate than MCI patients and therefore may be at an earlier stage of prodromal dementia. This study provides further evidence that cerebral atrophy rate, as measured by cerebral volume loss, may predispose TIA patients to a heightened risk of cognitive decline in the future (266). Our rates of cerebral atrophy in controls are consistent with the literature [(-0.2)-(-0.5%)] (267), however, are higher than the mean annualized atrophy rate of -0.3% reported by Walters et al. (2003) (86).

Higher systolic blood pressure was found to be significantly associated with cerebral atrophy in our cohort. Although the exact cause of dementia remains unknown, the modifiable vascular risk factors have emerged as an important risk factor for cognitive decline and AD. Hypertension is recognized as the most consistent risk factor for both stroke and dementia (65, 68). Also, hypertension has been found to be associated with increased brain atrophy in cross-sectional (268) and longitudinal studies (86, 87). Hypertension in midlife has been shown to have a direct relation to brain atrophy at autopsy and with increased AD pathology, namely increased accumulation of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (269). The mechanisms by which

hypertension affects cognitive function remain uncertain, but it is conceivable that high blood pressure may dysregulate the cerebral blood flow system and lead to cerebral hypoperfusion (64). Additionally, approximately 60-90% of AD autopsy reports exhibit cerebrovascular disease pathology, supporting that neurodegenerative disease and vascular disease commonly co-exists (64).

Unlike previous TIA/minor stroke studies, we did not find an association with WMH and cerebral atrophy rates (86, 87). Barnes et al. (2013) found that increased WMH burden and decreased cerebral spinal fluid $A\beta_{1-42}$ levels were independently associated with higher longitudinal brain volume loss in healthy control subjects, but not MCI or AD patients, possibly because they represent a more severe stage of disease (58). These results suggest that other sensitive markers of vascular disease should be measured to determine the relation of small vessel disease with brain atrophy rates, such as quantitative cerebral blood flow or white matter diffusion tensor imaging.

Normative cognitive profiles of healthy adults are consistent with our control population, excluding the BVMT Delayed score and the Trail Making A test, which is not found to be important variables in our statistical analysis (244–246, 262–265). At baseline, the cognitive profiles of the TIA population show significantly lower MOCA, WAIS-IV Digit Symbol coding and Trail Making Tests (A and B) scores compared to our control population. At 1 year follow-up, our controls have significantly higher ACE-R and RAVLT total scores compared to the TIA patients. Control participants show a significant decrease in the BVMT Delayed domain over 1 year and an increase in the BVMT total and WAIS-IV DS Coding tests. TIA participants, conversely, showed a significant increase in the BVMT Total, BVMT Delayed and WAIS-IV Digit Symbol coding tests over 1 year. We find no significant relationship with baseline cognition or

longitudinal changes in cognition with cerebral atrophy rates, strongly suggesting that changes in brain volume are likely preceding cognitive decline in TIA subjects (86, 87). TIA patients have frequently been shown to have mild cognitive deficits following the incident event, but it is unclear whether these cognitive findings preceded the event or were a direct result of the TIA. Also, studies to date have not clarified whether the cognitive abnormalities progress over time. What these studies have shown is considerable heterogeneity of the cognitive profiles that appear unrelated to the presence of acute DWI lesions (270, 271). Some of the cognitive abnormalities might partially be explained by the increased incidence of neuro-affective symptoms; TIA participants have been shown to have higher subjective complaints of fatigue, anxiety and depressive symptoms following their TIA which could impact on their baseline cognitive scores (271).

Notwithstanding these observations, the reliability neuropsychological assessments of preclinical disease have limitations because performance is commonly affected by age, education, ethnicity, co-morbid treatments, and ceiling/floor effects and learning effects, which can limit our ability to detect change over time within a subject. We minimized learning effects by administering different versions of cognitive tests at baseline and 1 year. Compared to brain atrophy measurements, standard cognitive testing has a higher inter-individual variability, up to a 10-fold decrease in clinical trial power and fails to provide objective support for disease-modifying effects (236, 272). However, cerebral atrophy also remains a global, non-specific marker of diffuse neurodegenerative processes and does not highlight the regional neuropathological changes that occur during the progression of AD. Further research should focus on atrophy rates in focal regions of interest in a TIA population, such as the hippocampus, which has been studied extensively in AD and MCI (144). Disease progression must be analyzed over several time points to validate the reliability and sensitivity of brain atrophy rate measurements. This is of importance in pre-clinical

dementia trials, where current clinical outcomes have a limited ability to detect treatment effects within the typical time frame of a clinical trial – whereas structural MR imaging has been shown to detect change over 12 months. Longitudinal neuroimaging studies will also provide insight into the ideal inclusion criteria for clinical trials by identifying patients at the highest risk of cognitive decline. It is these patients that are potentially most likely to benefit from vascular risk-reduction therapies if the timing and type of intervention are adjusted for optimal effectiveness.

Our data in TIA patients show an almost two-fold increase in rates of cerebral atrophy measured by MR imaging compared to non-TIA controls, suggesting the existence of a pre-clinical dementia state in this understudied group of patients. Future studies will need to determine what biomarkers are able to determine an individual's imminent risk of cognitive decline and what we should measure to monitor the effect of preventative treatment, such as intensive blood pressure control, perhaps even beyond current clinical guidelines. Predictors of early neurodegeneration, such as whole brain atrophy rates are promising pre-clinical biomarkers that could monitor vascular risk management in the short-term, and ultimately improve subject selection strategies for future clinical trials.

CHAPTER THREE: THE ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN ASL-MRI CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW IN TRANSIENT ISCHEMIC ATTACK PATIENTS AND COGNITION

Meaghan Reid, Connor McDougall, Noaah Reaume, Meng Weng, Rani Gupta Sah, Richard Frayne, Shelagh B. Coutts, Tolulope T. Sajobi, Richard Stewart Longman, Christopher D. d'Esterre, Philip Barber (2019). The associations between ASL-MRI cerebral blood flow in transient ischemic attack patients and cognition.

3.1 Preface

Excerpts from this chapter for the basis of an article in submission. TTS, RSL, RF, SBC and PAB have made substantial contributions to the conception and design of this study. NR and MR were involved in coordinating the study, recruitment, administering neuropsychological tests and data collection. MW and TTS provided significant statistical guidance for this project. RSL conceptualized the neuropsychological test battery and oversaw research assistant training for administration. RF provided guidance related to imaging modalities and the conceptual framework for analysis. RGS provided expertise in image processing. CM provided significant guidance with data acquisition through MatLab. MR, CDD and PAB wrote the draft of the manuscript and all authors were involved in revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors have given full approval of the version to be published.

3.2 Introduction

Dementia is a major cause of disability and dependency in the elderly and is associated with personal, social and economic burden. (4). Neurodegenerative or vascular processes associated with late life cognitive decline may span more than twenty years before symptom onset, providing a crucial pre-clinical window to identify those at the highest risk of cognitive decline. The identification of reliable neuroimaging markers for prodromal dementia will allow for the identification and implementation of therapeutic and pharmacological interventions in the earliest stages of disease. Many neurodegenerative dementias have a vascular component (ranging from 40-60%) which increases with age (13). Common vascular modifiable risk factors of AD include cerebrovascular disease, hypertension and smoking, and can be directly attributed to approximately 25% of dementias (14, 15, 273). Transient ischemic attack (TIA) is common medical emergency and is characterized by stroke symptoms (lasting no longer than 24 hours) caused by transient ischemia. TIA patients have a 4-fold increased risk in developing late-life cognitive decline, likely due to their common modifiable risk factors with AD, and are thus a suitable group for the study of pre-clinical dementia (84, 274, 275).

The association between cerebrovascular disease and ischemic damage leading to cognitive decline is uncertain, however data suggests that the modifiable vascular and lifestyle risk factors, especially chronic hypertension, can lead to cerebral hypoperfusion and microvascular damage that may increase the susceptibility of the brain to both the formation of AD-type pathology (44) and small vessel disease. Regional cerebral blood flow (CBF) can be quantitatively measured with magnetic resonance (MR) imaging arterial spin labelling (ASL), which is a non-invasive technique that magnetically labels water protons to be used as a blood flow tracer. ASL-MR imaging has several advantages over nuclear medicine and contrast imaging techniques: it is non-invasive, does not require an intravenous contrast agent, is fast, easy to acquire and does not expose patients to ionizing radiation. Additionally, the anatomical images can be acquired at the same time as the perfusion images.

In this prospective cross-sectional study, we aim to determine regional CBF differences (mL/min/100g) measured by ASL-MR imaging in TIA and non-TIA controls. We also aim to determine demographic and vascular risk factors that are associated with CBF decreases. Finally,

we aim to determine whether ASL-MR imaging can discriminate cognitive profiles in TIA patients compared to non-TIA control subjects.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Study Population

Consecutive participants presenting with first documented TIA and non-TIA control volunteers between the ages of 45-80 were prospectively consented to the Predementia Neuroimaging of Transient Ischemic Attack (PREVENT) Study approved by the University of Calgary Research Ethics Board between May 2017 and December 2019 (239). TIA participants were recruited through the Emergency Department at the Foothills Medical Centre or Calgary Stroke Prevention Clinic within 48 hours of initial symptoms, and the diagnosis of TIA was confirmed by a stroke neurologist. Transient ischemic attack was defined according to the National Institute of Neurological Disease and Stroke Criteria (240). There was a formal review of all cases by the study's senior neurologist (PAB) who confirmed the final diagnosis of TIA and inclusion into the study. Volunteer control participants were recruited to the PREVENT Study through the community (e.g. hospital and community centre advertisements) and spousal partners. All participants were included if they had no clinical symptoms of cognitive impairment or dementia as defined by the National Institute of Aging – Alzheimer Association Criteria (241), Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (242) scores between 24-30, had no contraindication to MR imaging, and were fluent in English. TIA or control subjects were excluded if there was: significant neurologic disease (Parkinson's disease, multi-infarct dementia, seizure disorder, MS) or history of significant head trauma; psychiatric disorders (major depression, bipolar disorder or schizophrenia) as defined by DSM-5 criteria (24); alcohol or substance abuse or dependence within the past 2 years; any significant systemic illness or unstable medical condition; and/or current use

of specific psychoactive medications (e.g., certain antidepressants, neuroleptics, chronic anxiolytics, or sedative hypnotics, etc.). All TIA participants had T1-weighted MR imaging and ASL-MR imaging within 14-days of their initial symptoms. All subjects provided written informed consent.

3.3.2 Clinical Data Collection

The study procedures included a medical evaluation (clinical characteristics, demographics, medical history and medications) collected through patient self-report and corroborated when possible by medical charts. Alcohol use was defined by self-report of >2 alcohol drinks per day; tobacco risk was defined by past or previous regular use of tobacco. All TIA patients were managed according to current stroke prevention guidelines.

A standardized neuropsychological battery was administered by a trained researcher at both time points that closely aligned with that of the Alzheimer's Disease Network Initiative (243), supplemented with tests for visual memory and frontal executive function. The memory domain was tested with the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised (BVMT), total and delayed recall (244) and the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, total trial 6 (245, 263). The processing speed domain was tested by the WAIS-IV Digit Symbol Coding test (246). The executive functioning domain was tested with the Trail Making Test B (247, 264). Other tests included the mean ordinal raw score (1-7) of the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination Revised (ACE-R) categorical verbal fluency and total score (248, 249); the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA) (250); the premorbid intelligence calculated from the North American Adult Reading test (NAART) (251); and depressive symptoms included the mean raw score from the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), total (252).

3.3.3 Image Acquisition Protocols

Participants underwent MR imaging using a 3.0T Diagnostic MR Scanner (General Electric Discovery 750), using a standard head coil. ASL images, T1-weighted images, T2-weighted fluid-attenuated recovery (FLAIR) sequences, and diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) sequences were analyzed. The 3D fast-spin-echo Pseudo-Continuous Arterial Spin Labelling (pCASL) with a background suppression had the following parameters: post-labelling delay = 2025 ms, field of view (FOV) = 22.9cm, repetition time= 4898-4985 ms, echo time = 10.80-11.72 ms, seventy-four 3.5-4.0 mm slice with a 4 mm gap, and spiral acquisition with 1024 points and eight arms. Quantitative CBF maps were generated by the MR imaging scanner automatically from the ASL datasets in CBF units (mL/100g/min) using the following formula:

$$CBF = 6000 \left(\frac{\left(\left(\lambda - e^{-\frac{ST}{T1T}} \right) e^{\frac{PLD}{T1B}} \right)}{\left(2T1B(s) \right) \left(1 - e^{\frac{LT}{T1}} \right) \epsilon x \text{ NEX}} \right) \left(\frac{\Delta M}{\text{SF x PDref}} \right) (276)$$

where T1B and T1T represent blood and tissue T1, values (1.6s at 3T), respectively, λ is the partial coefficient set to 0.9, ε is the efficiency and is set to 0.80 x 0.75, Δ M is the difference between tag and no tag images, PD_{REF} is the reference proton density images, NEX is the number of excitations, SF is a scaling factor of 45, and PLD is the post-labelling delay (277). The T1-weighted images were acquired using a 3D inversion recovery prepared spoiled gradient-echo sequence (3D; field of view (FOV) = 24 cm; one hundred and seventy-six 1.0 mm slice with a 0 mm gap; acquisition matrix = 256 x 256; TE = 2.932 ms; TR = 6.66 ms; flip angle = 8°; inversion time (TI) = 650 ms; phase FOV = 85%; reconstructed voxel size = 5392 mm isotropic). The 2D DWI sequence was acquired with an acquisition matrix size = 256 x 256, FOV = 28 cm, twenty-three 3.0 mm slice

with 0 mm gap; TE = 81.7 ms, TR = 8000 ms, flip angle = 90°. The 3D T2-weighted FLAIR sequence was acquired with an acquisition matrix size = 512×512 ; FOV = 24 cm; thirty-eight 3.0 mm slice with a 0 mm gap; TE = 120.0 ms, TR = 8524 ms, TI = 2219 ms, flip angle = 90°. Quality assurance to detect poor image quality (low signal-to-noise, or high levels of image artifact or distortion) was manually performed to ensure image quality.

3.3.4 Image Processing

All image data was anonymized and reading/processing of scans was performed blinded to all demographic and outcome data. Each imaging modality was processed independently. Specifically, formal adjudication of the image quality was graded according to neck and head movement, quality of registration and intensity inhomogeneities by two trained individuals (PAB, MR). ASL images were checked for arterial transit time heterogeneity by calculating the spatial coefficient of variation (CoV) (278). All scans were categorized as 'good' (CoV \leq 0.6, cerebral blood flow signal predominates artefacts) (278, 279).

3.3.5 ASL-T1 Registration

Structural T1-weighted images and ASL-CBF images underwent BET brain extraction from FSL (BET – FSL v2.1) following standardized orientation. For quantitative analysis, the ASL-CBF images were then registered to the corresponding T1 images using a linear 12 degree FSL-FIRST registration (280). Regions of interest were extracted from the T1 images with FSL and subsequently masked to the corresponding ASL-CBF image in T1 space (280). Whole brain white and grey matter of each hemisphere was segmented with FSL FAST (259). The hippocampus, thalamus and basal ganglia was segmented with FSL FIRST (281). The anterior cingulate, entorhinal cortex, posterior cingulate and precuneus were segmented with the Desikan-Killiany atlas from FreeSurfer (282). The mean cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) for each region of interest was generated using MatLab 2017. The image processing steps were quality controlled by visual inspection for each participant. FSL brain tissue volume, normalised for subject head size, was estimated with SIENAX, part of FSL (253, 283).

3.3.6 White Matter Hyperintensities and Diffusion Lesions

White matter hyperintensities (WMH) were segmented from FLAIR images using Cerebra-WML software, a semi-automated software measuring the volume (mL) of white matter lesions based on the global threshold and contrast between the different anatomical regions of our brain (260). Diffusion lesions were segmented from the DWI images with ITK-SNAP (Version 3.6.0, www.itksnap.org), a semi-automatic software application used to segment structures in 3D medical images by a trained researcher (MR) and underwent quality control by a stroke neurologist (PAB) (261). The apparent diffusion coefficient decline associated with acute ischemia persists for 10 days and then normalizes, but the T2 component of the DWI lesion persists much longer for up to several weeks. Therefore, the <14 days window should identify acute DWI lesions with confidence and addresses the practical constraint of obtaining acute MR imaging for TIA patients.

3.3.7 Statistical Analyses

All statistical analysis was performed on STATA IC/15.0 (StataCorp. 2017. Stat Statistical Software: Release 15. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC). Statistical analysis included the use of descriptive statistics to compare the mean (median), standard deviation (interquartile ranges) and frequency distributions of all variables. Two-way two-sample *t*-tests ($\propto = 0.05$) and Chi

square tests were used to compare risk factors (including demographic, medical, depression and premorbid intellect), cognitive profiles, and regional cerebral blood flow amongst the TIA and control participants. Wilcoxon Rank-Sum Tests were used to compare non-parametric DWI lesion volume and WHM burden between TIA and non-TIA controls. All data for multiple linear regression fit the basic required assumptions including a linear relationship between the outcome variable and the independent variables, normally distributed residuals, no multicollinearity and homoscedasticity. The associations between risk factors (including demographic, medical, WMH burden, depression, MMSE, and premorbid intellect, side of TIA) and regional CBF was tested using a backwards stepwise multiple linear regression. Variables with the highest p-values were removed until the adjusted R-square value no longer improved. Multiple linear regression was performed to analyze the associations between regional CBF and cognitive profiles while controlling for TIA status, age, sex, hemisphere of TIA, premorbid intellect, WMH and NBV.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Demographics

Forty-five (45) TIA patients and 60 control participants were initially included into the study following inclusion criteria, complete clinical/demographic information and complete MR imaging sequences. Seven (7) TIA and 5 control participants were excluded upon imaging quality control. Poor registration in the 12 cases were due to motion artifact (2) and ASL quality (10) (e.g. artefact, uneven head angle, issues with pre-processing). A total of 38 TIA patients and 55 control patients were included in the analysis.

Demographic, clinical and vascular factors for both the TIA and control population are summarized in Table 3-1. TIA and control populations did not significantly differ in sex, age, education and all other factors, with the exception of DWI (p<0.001) and cholesterol treatment
(p=0.004). Of the TIA patients, 25 (65.8%) had a left side TIA and 13 (34.2%) had a right side TIA. Further, the regions of DWI lesions were mostly supplied by the middle cerebral artery (n=11, 73.3%), with 20% (n=3) supplied by the posterior cerebral artery and 7.0% (n=1) from the anterior cerebral artery.

Table 3-1. Demographic information and medical information of TIA and control participants compared with two-way two-sample *t*-tests and Chi square tests ($\alpha = 0.05$). IQR = interquartile range, WMH = white matter hyperintensities normalized by brain volume, NBV = normalized brain volume, DWI = diffusion weighted image lesion.

Descriptive Variables	TIA (n=38)	Control (n=55)	р	
Age, years	68.08 ± 7.5	66.87 ± 7.0	0.430	
Sex, <i>n women</i> (%)	17 (44.7%)	31 (56.4%)	0.275	
Education, years	13.84 ± 3.6	14.65 ± 2.4	0.201	
Depression, raw CES-D	10.55 ± 7.9	9.02 ± 7.7	0.352	
Premorbid Intellect, NAART	107.4 ± 10.1	109.6 ± 9.0	0.282	
WMH, median* (IQR)	2.62 (1.0-4.7)	1.38 (0.8-3.9)	0.128	
NBV, cm^3	1439 ± 90.9	1458 ± 91.1	0.302	
Systolic BP, <i>mmHg</i>	133.8 ± 21.7	129.1 ± 16.8	0.243	
DWI, <i>n (%)</i>	15 (39.5%)	0	0.000	
DWI Volume, <i>median mm³(IQR)</i>	154.3 (57.4-420.0)	0	0.000	
Cholesterol Treatment, n (%)	21 (55.3%)	17 (30.9%)	0.019	
Hypertension Treatment, n (%)	17 (44.7%)	16 (29.1%)	0.124	
Diabetes, n (%)	4 (10.5%)	4 (7.27%)	0.587	
Tobacco, <i>n (%)</i>	20 (52.6%)	21 (38.2%)	0.171	
Alcohol, <i>n (%)</i>	4 (10.5%)	3 (5.45%)	0.368	

*Wilcoxon-Rank Sum tests.

The formal neuropsychological tests for TIA and control are summarized in Table 3-2. We found control participants had significantly higher MMSE scores (p=0.03), ACE-R scores (p=0.008), WAIS Digit Symbol coding scores (p=0.002) and Trail Making Scores (p=0.004 and 0.008, respectively) than non-TIA controls.

Table 3-2. Median, interquartile ranges and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests of cognitive domains comparing TIA and control participants ($\propto = 0.05$). MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination, ACE-R = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, MOCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment.

	TIA (n=3	8)	Control (n=	р	
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR	
MMSE	29.0	27.0-30.0	30.0	29.0-30.0	0.003
MOCA	25.0	23.0-28.0	26.0	25.0-28.0	0.149
ACE-R	91.0	85.0-95.0	95.0	91.0-97.0	0.008
BVMT Total	19.5	16.0-25.0	23.0	17.0-28.0	0.080
BVMT Delayed	9.00	6.00-11.0	10.0	8.00-11.0	0.122
RAVLT	8.00	6.00-12.0	10.0	7.00-12.0	0.277
WAIS-IV DS Coding	51.0	45.0-60.0	64.0	51.0-76.0	0.002
TMT A	37.0	28.9-46.8	30.0	24.0-37.1	0.004
TMT B	88.0	65.0-99.1	67.4	55.0-88.0	0.008
Verbal Fluency, raw total from ACE-R	7.00	5.00-7.00	7.00	6.00-8.00	0.469

The cross-sectional regional cerebral blood flow (ASL-CBF) (mL/min/100g) were compared between the TIA and control participants using independent Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests [Table 3-3]. The median white matter and grey matter CBF were not significantly different in TIA and control populations. Compared to control subjects, patients with TIA showed lower regional CBF in the left entorhinal cortex (p=0.001), both the left and right posterior cingulate (p=0.035 and 0.038, respectively) and the right precuneus (p=0.030). There were no significant differences between the regional CBF in the TIA and non-TIA controls in the white matter, grey matter, hippocampus, thalamus, basal ganglia, anterior cingulate, right entorhinal cortex and left precuneus.

		TIA (n=38	TIA (n=38)		Control (n=55)		
		Median	IQR	Median	IQR	•	
White Matter	Left	37.6	31.1-45.8	39.9	33.6-47.2	0.470	
	Right	36.4	29.1-45.1	39.4	30.9-44.1	0.226	
Grey Matter	Left	42.1	31.7-50.0	44.7	35.9-52.5	0.419	
	Right	40.5	30.2-48.3	44.1	33.1-50.0	0.272	
Hippocampus	Left	40.2	34.1-42.8	42.0	34.1-46.2	0.206	
	Right	38.8	31.8-44.3	40.6	34.5-46.5	0.238	
Thalamus	Left	40.3	35.6-46.8	43.2	36.3-48.5	0.201	
	Right	40.6	32.8-46.5	43.6	36.7-48.5	0.111	
Basal Ganglia	Left	37.9	34.2-42.4	38.0	35.5-42.0	0.708	
	Right	36.8	33.6-41.7	37.8	34.1-41.0	0.684	
Anterior Cingulate	Left	52.0	44.9-59.7	56.2	50.2-66.4	0.067	
	Right	49.0	43.8-56.1	53.7	46.7-61.1	0.063	
Entorhinal Cortex	Left	36.0	29.5-38.2	40.3	35.2-44.6	0.001	
	Right	35.1	30.7-41.7	37.6	31.6-41.6	0.333	
Posterior Cingulate	Left	46.5	39.1-55.9	52.5	42.6-61.5	0.035	
	Right	49.7	40.1-56.5	53.6	43.7-62.6	0.038	
Precuneus	Left	41.5	36.2-52.4	47.0	38.4-59.6	0.074	
	Right	41.8	34.7-55.9	50.1	39.3-62.2	0.030	

Table 3-3. Median, interquartile range and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests of regional cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) comparing TIA and control participants ($\propto = 0.05$).



Figure 3-1. A comparison of quantitated cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) of the posterior cingulate, precuneus and entorhinal cortex acquired by ASL-MR overlaid on the anatomical T1-weighed MR image of age, sex and education matched TIA patients and controls. **A)** Female, aged 77, 16 years of education. **B)** Male, aged 68, 12 years of education.

3.4.2 Multiple Linear Regression

Increased education was associated with increased cerebral blood flow in both hemispheres of the white and grey matter. Further, age was significantly associated with right white matter hemispheric cerebral blood flow and depression was significantly associated with left grey matter cerebral blood flow. Decreased CBF in the hippocampus was associated significantly with males, higher NBV, high WMH volumes (right) and high systolic blood pressure (left). Reduced CBF in the entorhinal cortex was associated with age, hemispheric side of TIA (left) and increase in systolic blood pressure. In the posterior cingulate, CBF was associated with males and high systolic blood pressure. In the precuneus, CBF was associated with males, high WMH volumes (left) and side of TIA (right). Overall, 6/12 regions of interest were significantly associated with males and 4/12 were associated with high systolic blood pressure. Control/TIA status, premorbid intellect, DWI lesion volume, cholesterol treatment, antihypertensive treatment, diabetes and tobacco use were not found to be significant in any model and were not included in the table [Table 3-4].

Table 3-4. Backwards stepwise multiple linear regression ($\propto = 0.05$) was used to analyze the associations between risk factors (control vs. TIA, age, sex, education, normalized brain volume, premorbid intellect, depression, white matter hyperintensities/normalized brain volume, side of TIA, DWI volume, systolic blood pressure, cholesterol treatment, antihypertensive, diabetes and tobacco) and regional cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g). CESD = depression, NBV= normalized brain volume, WMH = white matter hyperintensities normalized by brain volume, DWI = diffusion weighted imaging lesion volume, BP = blood pressure, Adj = adjusted, L = left, R = right.

		Age	Sex	Education	CESD	NBV	WMH	Side	Systolic	Adj R
								of TIA	BP	Square
White Matter	L			0.003						0.146
	R	0.032		0.017						0.101
Grey Matter	L			0.002	0.026					0.159
	R			0.006						0.126
Hippocampus	L		0.007			0.020				0.142
	R		0.008			0.031	0.033			0.166
Entorhinal	L	0.011						0.028	0.008	0.219
Cortex	R	0.020							0.007	0.195
Posterior	L		0.006						0.042	0.200
Cingulate	R		0.001						0.017	0.233
Precuneus	L		0.000				0.033			0.251
	R		0.000				0.041	0.029		0.273

Decreased cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) in both hemispheres of the hippocampus, the posterior cingulate and precuneus were significantly associated with lower RAVLT scores.

Decreased CBF in the right entorhinal cortex was also significantly associated with poorer RAVLT scores [Table 3-5].

Table 3-5. Multiple linear regression analyzing the associations between regional cerebral blood flow (mL/min/100g) and cognitive scores. This model is controlling for TIA status, age, sex, premorbid intellect, side of TIA, white matter hyperintensities and normalized brain volume. Hip = hippocampus, E.C. = entorhinal cortex, P.C. = posterior cortex, Pre = precuneus, L= left, R = right, BVMT = Brief Visuospatial Memory Test, RAVLT = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, DS Coding = Digit Symbol Coding, TMT = Trail Making Test, P = p-value, R²=adjusted R-squared.

		BVMT Total		BVMT		RAVL	RAVLT		TMT A		TMT B		Verbal Fluency	
				Delaye	d									
		Р	R^2	Р	R^2	Р	R^2	Р	R^2	Р	R^2	Р	R^2	
Hip.	L	0.124	0.137	0.755	0.042	0.011	0.158	0.085	0.133	0.664	0.241	0.169	0.026	
	R	0.247	0.126	0.697	0.042	0.019	0.147	0.283	0.113	0.797	0.240	0.684	0.005	
E.C.	L	0.285	0.124	0.719	0.042	0.141	0.113	0.760	0.102	0.627	0.242	0.475	0.009	
	R	0.056	0.150	0.278	0.054	0.032	0.138	0.175	0.121	0.855	0.240	0.379	0.013	
P.C.	L	0.101	0.140	0.509	0.046	0.019	0.148	0.270	0.114	0.763	0.240	0.241	0.020	
	R	0.137	0.135	0.486	0.046	0.029	0.140	0.192	0.119	0.983	0.239	0.312	0.015	
Pre.	L	0.073	0.145	0.313	0.052	0.012	0.156	0.309	0.112	0.563	0.242	0.483	0.009	
	R	0.071	0.146	0.337	0.051	0.009	0.162	0.193	0.119	0.476	0.244	0.337	0.014	

3.5 Discussion

Our study can be summarized by the main findings: 1) TIA patients have significantly lower regional CBF in the left entorhinal cortex, both the left and right posterior cingulate and the right precuneus than non-TIA controls, 2) Lower CBF in the hippocampus, left entorhinal cortex, posterior cortex and precuneus is significantly association with poorer RAVLT scores, which is a marker of short-term auditory verbal memory 3) Lower CBF is related to sex and hypertension. Further, we confirm the finding of mild cognitive deficits in TIA patients (82) and demonstrate the potential association of CBF with sex and hypertension. Reports have measured lower global and regional CBF measured by ASL in subjects with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and AD when compared to control subjects (17, 34, 286–289, 62, 72, 166, 179, 181, 182, 284, 285). Lower CBF measured by ASL-MR imaging has also been shown to distinguish participants with MCI compared to those with AD, and regional hypoperfusion has been used to predict the conversion of MCI to AD (180, 181, 287, 290, 291). Most consistently, MCI patients who convert to AD show decreased precuneus and/or posterior cingulate blood flow (with atrophy correction) (180, 181, 287, 290, 291). We did not find an increase in hippocampal CBF, which is frequently found in MCI patients and is hypothesized to represent a compensatory mechanism at early stage of disease progression (180). Further longitudinal studies will provide insight into how lower CBF and regional CBF changes might predict cognitive decline.

Our study shows that six out of twelve regions show an association with males and reduced CBF, and four out of twelve regions show higher systolic blood pressure is associated with reduced CBF. Higher age is significantly associated with CBF decreases in both sides of the entorhinal cortex and right white matter. WMH burden is significantly associated with reduced CBF in the right hippocampus, and left precuneus, supporting an association of remote regional and cortical CBF changes with small vessel disease. The side of TIA is significantly associated with CBF in the left entorhinal cortex and right precuneus. This is likely not due to ischemia as the medial temporal structures are perfused by the posterior cerebral artery and most cases have symptoms in the anterior circulation, as 65.8% of our TIA patients have left hemisphere TIAs. Higher education is significantly associated with higher cerebral blood flow in both hemispheres of the white and grey matter, but not for any other regions of interest. We find no association with CBF and

control/TIA status, premorbid intellect, DWI lesion volume, cholesterol treatment, antihypertensive treatment, diabetes or tobacco use.

It is hypothesized that high blood pressure may dysregulate the cerebral blood flow system and lead to cerebral hypoperfusion (64). In combination with endothelial dysfunction in the small cerebral vessel, this dysregulation may result in chronic cerebral hypoxia (64). Alternatively, hypoperfusion may accelerate the hyperphosphylation of tau protein, contributing to accelerated neurofibrillary plaque accumulation. Medial temporal lobe neurofibrillary tangles have been related to cognitive function in patients with mild cognitive impairment (292, 293), and AD. In post-stroke patients, reduced CBF in the parietal lobe has been shown to accurately predict the onset of post-stroke dementia (294). Further, low CBF, rather than hippocampal volume predicted a lower Cambridge Cognition Examination - Revised score (CAMCOG), in those going onto develop post stroke dementia, which is in accordance with the suggestion that vascular damage as a result of stroke might be in some way responsible to the increased susceptibility of the brain to dementia (294). Regardless of the mechanisms, regions of interest with substantially decreased CBF in the hypertension group may be representative of functional decline over time (72, 295). Functional decline in these regions are far reaching, as decreases in the entorhinal cortex and posterior cingulate may impact spatial memory, memory formation and memory consolidation (296, 297). This finding of hypoperfusion in these anatomical regions of interest and the relationship of low CBF with hypertension in this cohort further support the need for rigorous blood pressure control with anti-hypertensive medication, even beyond current recommended guidelines on individualized basis (298).

Our study reveals that decreased CBF in the hippocampus, posterior cingulate, precuneus and left entorhinal cortex is associated with poorer performance on tests of verbal memory. In MCI

68

patients, hypoperfusion in the right middle frontal cortex has been shown to predict subsequent episodic memory decline from the California Verbal Learning Test (181). In amnestic MCI subjects, significant hypoperfusion in the right precuneus, cuneus and posterior cingulate correlate with lower RAVLT scores during a memory-task with functional ASL-MR imaging (182). These results indicate that mild memory impairment is related to the hypoperfusion in these regions of interest, suggesting that perfusion deficits in these brain regions are consistent with the symptomatology of AD. Still unknown is whether the observed hypoperfusion is contributing to the cognitive deficit, or is an epiphenomenon (i.e. the hypoperfusion is secondary to underlying neurodegenerative process).

ASL-MR imaging may be an important biomarker to predict preclinical disease and identify potential therapeutic techniques or treatment. In a prospective study with 163000 nondemented participants, it was found that physical activity reduces the risk of dementia and AD by 28% and 45%, respectively (175). Smith et al. (2010) found in a large systematic review of RCTs, that subjects attending organized exercise groups show improvement in attention, processing speed and executive function, however the effects on memory were not consistent (176). Regional cerebral blood flow is a promising pre-clinical biomarker and may allow for randomized control trials to effectively identify an appropriate population for which multiple interventions – including exercise or antihypertensive treatments - may show the greatest effect in the future.

In summary, in this study we show that TIA patients have significant decreases in regional CBF measured by ASL-MR imaging compared to non-TIA controls, suggesting the existence of vascular dysregulation. High systolic blood pressure is also associated with many regional CBF decreases. Our study shows significant association with regional CBF in hippocampus, posterior

cingulate and precuneus and verbal memory. The causes and implications of regional hypoperfusion in pre-clinical dementia are largely unknown and cannot be answered by this study. Future longitudinal studies will need to explore the potential clinical, cognitive, genetic and biological causes of CBF decreases. Specifically, investigations should explore what biomarkers are able to determine patients at the highest risk of cognitive decline and what modalities are sensitive to measure the effects of preventative treatments. The PREVENT study intends to determine the collective and cumulative effects of cerebral blood flow changes, white matter damage (small vessel disease), and molecular markers of in vivo AD or other age-related neurodegenerative processes that lead to increased rates of whole brain and hippocampal atrophy that can be measured by structural MR imaging over a five-year period following the original presentation of TIA. Longitudinal data of pre-clinical neuroimaging biomarkers, including regional CBF, will refine inclusion criteria and optimize the success of secondary prevention randomized control trials in the goal of preventing late-life cognitive decline.

CHAPTER FOUR: THESIS CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Overall Conclusions

TIA patients are at a high risk of late-life dementia and represent an ideal population to study the progressive pre-clinical phase of dementia that spans decades prior to clinical signs of cognitive decline (9, 10, 49). To date, there are few published longitudinal studies that have explored potential neurodegenerative and vascular disease processes that may synergistically coexist and may predict the future risk of cognitive decline (48, 59, 270). The aim of this thesis was to study longitudinal cerebral atrophy rates and cross-sectional regional cerebral blood flow changes in TIA patients and see whether such changes predicted cognitive changes in this cohort. In Chapter 2 we aimed to determine whether patients presenting with TIA had greater change of whole brain volume over 1 year after TIA than volunteer controls even before a change in cognition could be detected. In Chapter 3 we explored one potential mechanism of cognitive impairment in TIA patients compared to controls by measuring regional CBF measurement using MR ASL in a cross-sectional analysis utilizing baseline data for participants in the PREVENT Study.

In Chapter 2, our study was consistent with others (86, 87) that showed that TIA patients experienced an almost doubled cerebral atrophy rate (ml/year) over one year compared to age and education matched controls. In both cohorts, age and higher systolic blood pressure were significantly associated with increased cerebral atrophy rates. In addition, detailed neuropsychological assessment revealed the TIA cohort exhibited worse cognitive outcomes in tests of memory, processing speed and executive function at baseline compared to controls, and cognitive performance did not deteriorate significantly over one year. Nor did we see a relationship with whole brain atrophy rates and change in cognitive performance, supporting the concept that this cohort of TIA patients are potentially at risk of cognitive impairment, but as yet have no objective deterioration in cognition. Longitudinal examinations are necessary to associate neuronal

71

loss in this population with cognitive decline, which will establish whether TIA patients represent an early stage of dementia. Future methodology should continue the investigations beyond one year and should include at least three observational time points to establish trajectories of cerebral atrophy. These future investigations will allow us to determine the demographic and life-style risk factors that are associated with increased neurodegeneration and subsequently determine an individual's future risk of cognitive decline – and the most robust multidomain interventions to prevent late-life dementia.

In Chapter 3, we showed that TIA patients exhibited decreased cerebral blood flow in multiple anatomical regions, namely, the left entorhinal cortex, the posterior cingulate gyri and the right precuneus compared to non-TIA controls. This is consistent with MCI literature, that shows those who convert to AD frequently have regional CBF deficits in the precuneus and posterior cingulate blood flow (180, 181, 287, 290, 291). This is observation is potentially important because hypoperfusion in these regions have been postulated to accelerate the hyperphosphylation of tau protein contributing to accelerated neurofibrillary tangle accumulation, and plaques in the medial temporal lobe are related to early cognitive dysfunction in patients with MCI and AD (292, 293). Conversely, chronic cerebral hypoperfuion may exacerbate AD pathology by increasing the production of amyloid-beta (cerebral amyloid angiopathy) (299) or interfering with autoregulation and neurovascular coupling (300, 301). Males and higher systolic blood pressure were commonly associated with decreased cerebral blood flow in both cohorts. This is consistent with research that suggests that high blood pressure may dysregulate microcirculatory control of blood flow in the brain and lead to cerebral hypoperfusion (64), which could in turn lead to chronic cerebral hypoxia or accelerate tau plaque formation early in the disease process. We showed decreased cerebral blood flow in the hippocampus, entorhinal cortex, posterior cingulum and precuneus is associated with poorer performance in the RAVLT verbal memory test. Longitudinal CBF measurements exploring the relationship with cognitive decline and whole and regional brain atrophy will help strengthen our understanding of the vascular risk factors and dementia progression. ASL-MR imaging is a promising biomarker, however concerns over standardization and clinical cut-off values of normality remain valid, so more data is required. This study described in Chapter 3 is consistent with the cognitive data in Chapter 2, with TIA patients demonstrating poorer cognitive performance at baseline than non-TIA controls. Further, we showed that TIA patients have higher cerebral atrophy rates and regional cerebral blood flow deficits when compared to non-TIA controls at a stage where they are not clinically demented. This suggests that CBF measured by ASL MR imaging may be helpful in identifying underlying incipient disease processes in TIA patients, a population at increased risk of dementia.

4.2 Limitations and Future Directions

As with any case-control study, we were wary of 1) demographic matching between TIA and controls 2) self-selection bias in controls 3) longitudinal study attrition. Convenience sampling of cognitively normal participants is vulnerable to self-selection bias, because these participants tend to be more motivated than randomly recruited controls (302). Those willing to participate in dementia-related studies tend to be younger (303–305), better educated (303–306) and have a family history of Alzheimer disease (305), thus, carrying the APOE E4 allele more frequently (302). Volunteers are significantly more likely to be women (304), and furthermore women with TIA and stroke are underrepresented in research as they may be less likely to have stroke in midlife (307, 308), are less aware of the symptoms, may have atypical TIA symptoms, and do not always benefit equally from treatment and care (309). Our studies matched age and education of our community and spousal controls to our TIA patients. While our groups were not significantly

different for age, education and sex, our controls remained younger, more highly educated and a higher percentage of women. Future studies with larger pools of controls would provide an opportunity for better matching between the clinical and control populations. However, we believe our control group is performing at a similar level as published cognitive norms, and therefore we have some confidence that our controls represent a 'normal population'.

Attrition bias in dementia research can arise in both the clinical group, especially if the risk factors under study are associated with attrition (310). Currently, our longitudinal analysis spanned only 1-year, however, we should be wary of "drop out" and mortality of older and sicker participants and include sensitivity analyses to illuminate the robustness of our findings in the future (310). Compared to stroke patients, TIA patients have reduced attrition rates caused by stroke-related co-morbidity and frailty (89, 311). Currently, the PREVENT study has experienced attrition by 10% of TIAs and 5% of controls within the 1-year follow-up, and this is well within our estimated attrition of 20%.

The reliability of neuropsychological assessments of preclinical disease have limitations because performance is commonly affected by age, education, ethnicity, co-morbid treatments (232), and ceiling/floor effects and learning effects, which can limit our ability to detect change over time within a subject (130–134). We minimized learning effects by administering different versions of cognitive tests at baseline and one-year. Compared to brain atrophy measurements, standard cognitive testing has a higher inter-individual variability, up to a 10-fold decrease in clinical trial power and fails to provide objective support for disease-modifying effects (236, 272). Therefore, clinical trials in predementia stages of disease will have to employ biomarkers. These biomarkers will need to have the following characteristics: 1) accurate 2) highly reproducible 3)

standardized 4) sensitive to change over time 5) capable of detecting treatment effects 6) operationally straightforward.

Rates of cerebral atrophy are integral to biological pathways associated with preclinical progression of vascular disease and AD, and as such, are frequently used as an accurate and reliable disease biomarker for clinical trials (27, 126–129). Brain atrophy rates are highly sensitive at predicting cognitive decline and can be measured more accurately than neuropsychological outcomes, which can be confounded by many factors (130–134). However, cerebral atrophy remains a global, non-specific marker of diffuse neurodegenerative processes and does not highlight the regional neuropathological changes that occur during the progression of AD. To get a more precise understanding of the disease processes, future research should investigate atrophy rates in focal regions of interest in a TIA population, such as the hippocampus, which has been studied extensively in AD and MCI (142–144). Disease progression must be analyzed over several time points to validate the reliability and sensitivity of brain atrophy rate measurements. This is of importance in pre-clinical dementia trials, where current clinical outcomes have a limited ability to detect treatment effects within the typical time frame of a clinical trial – whereas structural MR imaging has been shown to detect change over 12 months.

A longitudinal study of further MR imaging modalities is warranted to fully understand the neuropathological changes that precede cognitive decline in the TIA cohort. The PREVENT study aims to measure atrophy (hippocampal and whole-brain), white matter tissue integrity and whole brain connectivity (diffusion tensor imaging), iron accumulation (quantitative susceptibility mapping) and cerebral blood flow (arterial spin labelling) over 5-years. In combination with CSF and blood biomarkers for AD, clinical and cognitive data, this neuroimaging data will piece together the poorly understood timeline of the preclinical prodromal phase of dementia and

discover what parameters predict increased rates of atrophy and decreases in cognition. In the short-term, these predictors of early neurodegeneration can inform vascular risk management. Longitudinal neuroimaging studies will also provide insight into the ideal inclusion criteria for clinical trials by identifying patients at the highest risk of cognitive decline. It has become apparent that disease-modifying drugs and interventional therapies must be administered in the earliest and possibly pre-symptomatic stages of cognitive decline, before the disease process becomes too advanced. It is these patients that are potentially most likely to benefit from vascular risk-reduction therapies if the timing and type of intervention are adjusted for optimal effectiveness (103).

Despite a costly effort to find therapies to treat established AD dementia, treatments to modify the disease have failed (94–100, 103–105). This is perhaps reflective of the treatments not reaching the biological target, the treatment being administered when the disease is too advanced (end stage), or inappropriate patient selection. Large trials have traditionally recruited patients with mild to moderate cognitive symptoms in which the disease processes may be too advanced to modify with interventions. Therefore, the focus has changed from treated established disease to preventing disease, which is the subject of secondary prevention. As highlighted in this thesis, an alternative approach is prevention in subjects with vascular risk factors who are at a high-risk of late life cognitive decline, such as TIA patients.

Large scale multidomain prevention RCTs, including FINGER and MAPT, focus on intervention involving diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring to improve or maintain cognitive function in at-risk elderly people from the general population (100, 103, 104). These RCTs have struggled to provide conclusive evidence of therapeutic interventions because they are often conducted over short periods of time on patients with mild-moderate dementia and have a focus on cognitive screening as an outcome (100, 103, 104). In secondary

76

prevention trials targeting predementia AD and vascular disease, it may be challenging to meet clinical end-points with reasonable sample sizes in the context of the typical length of a RCT over 2-4 years, especially in the pre-clinical phase (312). Therefore, there is an urgent need for biomarkers that reflect slowing of disease progression. The data presented in this thesis supports the first critical step in determining the risk of dementia in TIA patients using cerebral atrophy and regional cerebral blood flow as a surrogate of incipient and potentially modifiable disease before cognitive decline occurs. Future studies will investigate the neurobiological basis of these changes in this cohort.

In summary, our data supports the hypothesis that, over 1 year, TIA patients experience almost double the cerebral atrophy rates compared to non-TIA volunteer controls. Additionally, at baseline, TIA patients demonstrate decreased regional cerebral blood flow which is associated with poorer memory scores. High systolic blood pressure appears to be a co-morbid vascular risk factor for both cerebral atrophy rates and reduced regional cerebral blood flow. Therefore, hypertension should continue to be targeted in RCTs. Future studies could also investigate diet and exercise as vascular risk factors in TIA populations. RCTs have remained inconclusive despite the established link between vascular risk factors, stroke, and late-life cognitive decline. Our study design includes demographic, clinical, neuropsychological and neuroimaging markers in a TIA population to provide novel insight into the complex, multiple, co-existing pathologies of AD and CVD. This research adds to the growing literature of neuroimaging biomarkers capable of improving inclusion criteria in secondary prevention trials and subsequently monitoring therapeutic interventions in the goal of preventing neurodegeneration, cognitive decline and dementia.

REFERENCES

- 1. Burns A, Iliffe S. Dementia. 2018;338(7691):405–409.
- Alzheimer Society of Canada. Prevalence and monetary costs of dementia in Canada (2016): a report by the Alzheimer Society of Canada, Toronto (ON): 2016.
- Prince M, Wimo A, Guerchet M, Ali C, Wu Y, Prina M. World Alzheimer report 2015 the global impact of dementia: an analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends, Alzheimer's Disease International, London: 2015.
- 4. Frankish H, Horton R. Prevention and management of dementia: a priority for public health. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):16–22.
- Brookmeyer R, Ziegler-Graham K, Arrighi H. Forecasting the global burden of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2007;3:186–191.
- Jorm A, Korten A, Henderson A. The prevalence of dementia: a quantitative integration of the literature. Acta Pschiatr Scand. 1987;76:465–479.
- Khachaturian Z, Cami J, Andrieu S, Avila J, Boada Rovira M, Breteler M, et al. Creating a transatlantic research enterprise for preventing Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2009;5:361–366.
- Khachaturian Z, Petersen R, Synder P, Khachaturian A, Aisen P, de Leon M, et al. Developing a global strategy to prevent Alzheimer's disease: Leon Thal Symposium 2010. Alzheimers Dement. 2011;7:127–132.
- Tariq S, Barber PA. Dementia risk and prevention by targeting modifiable vascular risk factors. J Neurochem. 2018;144:565–581.
- 10. Prince M, Albanese E, Guerchet M, Prina M. World Alzheimer Report 2014, Dementia and risk reduction: an analysis of protective and modifiable factors. 2014:104.

- Norton S, Matthews FE, Barnes DE, Yaffe K, Brayne C. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: An analysis of population-based data. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:788–794.
- 12. Blennow K, de Leon MJ, Zetterberg H. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet. 2006;368:387–403.
- Scott KR, Barrett AM. Dementia syndromes : evaluation and treatment. Expert Rev Neurother. 2008;7:407–422.
- Baumgart M, Snyder HM, Carrillo MC, Fazio S, Kim H, Johns H. Summary of the evidence on modifiable risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia: A populationbased perspective. Alzheimer's and Dementia. 2015;11:718-726.
- Barnes DE, Yaffe K. The projected effect of risk factor reduction on Alzheimer's disease prevalence. Lancet Neurol. 2011;10:819-828.
- 16. Yan L, Liu CY, Wong K, Huang S, Mack WJ, Jann K, et al. NeuroImage : Clinical regional association of pCASL-MRI with FDG-PET and PiB-PET in people at risk for autosomal dominant Alzheimer 's disease. NeuroImage Clin. 2018;17:751–760.
- Sachdev PS, Brodaty H, Valenzuela MJ, Lorentz L, Looi JCL, Wen W, et al. The neuropsychological profile of vascular cognitive impairment in stroke and TIA patients. Neurology. 2004;62:912–919.
- Dodge HH, Wang CN, Chang CCH, Ganguli M. Terminal decline and practice effects in older adults without dementia: The MoVIES project. Neurology. 2011;77:722–730.
- Jellinger K, Danielczyk W, Fischer P, Gabriel E. Clinicopathological analysis of dementia disorders in the elderly. J Neurol Sci. 1990;95:239-258.
- 20. Terry RD, Masliah E, Salmon DP, Butters N, et al. Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: a synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. Ann

Neurol. 1991;30:572–580.

- 21. Halliday G, Ng T, Rodriguez M, Harding A, Blumbergs P, Evans W, et al. Consensus neuropathological diagnosis of common dementia syndromes: testing and standardising the use of multiple diagnostic criteria. Acta Neuropathol. 2002;104:72–78.
- Bennett D, Schneider J, Arvanitakis Z, Kelly J, Aggarwal N, Shah R, et al. Neuropathology of older persons without cognitive impairment from two communitybased studies. Neurology. 2006;66:1837–1844.
- Brayne C. The elephant in the room healthy brains in later life, epidemiology and public health. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2007;8:233–239.
- Regier D, Kuhl E, Kupfer D. The DSM-5: Classification and criteria changes. World Psychiatry. 2013;12:92–98.
- Elahi FM, Miller BL. A clinicopathological approach to the diagnosis of dementia. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13:457-476.
- Polvikoski T, Sulkava R, Haltia M, Kainulainen K, Vuorio A, Verkkoniemi A, et al. Apolipoprotein E, dementia, and cortical deposition of beta-amyloid protein. N Engl J Med. 1995;333:1242–1247.
- Braak H, Braak E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Neuropathol. 1991;82:239–259.
- Blennow K, de Leon M, Zetterberg H. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet (London, England).
 2006;368:387–403.
- Ballard C, Gauthier S, Corbett A, Brayne C, Aarsland D, Jones E. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet. 2011;377:1019–1031.
- 30. Barnes J, Bartlett J, van de Pol L, Loy C, Scahill R, Frost C, et al. A meta-analysis of

hippocampal atrophy rates in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30:1711–1723.

- 31. Sabuncu M, Desikan R, Sepulcre J, et al. The Dynamics of cortical and hippocampal atrophy in Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 2011;68(8):1040–8.
- 32. Huang KL, Hsiao IT, Kuo HC, Hsieh CJ, Hsieh YC, Wu YM, et al. Correlation between visual association memory test and structural changes in patients with Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment. J Formos Med Assoc. 2018:1–8.
- Roher AE, Debbins JP, Malek-Ahmadi M, Chen K, Pipe JG, Maze S, et al. Cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer's disease. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2012;8:596–611.
- Asllani I, Habeck C, Scarmeas N, Borogovac A, Brown TR, Stern Y. Multivariate and univariate analysis of continuous arterial spin labeling perfusion MRI in Alzheimer's disease. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2008;28:725–36.
- Alsop DC, Dai W, Grossman M, Detre JA. Arterial spin labeling blood flow MRI: Its role in the early characterization of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Disease. 2010;20:871-880.
- 36. Wolk DA, Detre JA. Arterial spin labeling MRI: An emerging biomarker for Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative conditions. Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25:421–428.
- Wierenga CE, Hays CC, Zlatar ZZ. Cerebral blood flow measured by arterial spin labeling MRI as a preclinical marker of alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Disease. 2014;42:S411-419.
- Fazekas F, Alavi A, Chawluk JB, Zimmerman RA, Hackney D, Bilaniuk L, et al.
 Comparison of CT, MR, and PET in Alzheimer's dementia and normal aging. JNuclMed. 1989;30:1607–1615.
- 39. Musiek ES, Chen Y, Korczykowski M, Saboury B, Martinez PM, Reddin JS, et al. Direct

comparison of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography and arterial spin labeling magnetic resonance imaging in Alzheimer 's disease. Alzheimer's Dement. 2012;8:51–59.

- 40. Gauthier S, Reisberg B, Zaudig M, Petersen R, Ritchie K, Brioch K, et al. Mild cognitive impairment. Lancet. 2007;7:407–422.
- Sun M-K. Potential therapeutics for vascular cognitive impairment and dementia. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2018;16:1036–1044.
- Wiesmann M, Kiliaan A, Claasen J. Vascular aspects of cognitive impairment and dementia. Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2013;33:1696–1706.
- Helman A, Murphy M. Vascular cognitive impairment: Modeling a critical neurologic disease in vitro and in vivo. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016;1862:975–982.
- 44. Gorelick PB, Scuteri A, Black SE, Decarli C, Greenberg SM, Iadecola C, et al. Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2011;42:2672-2713.
- Thal DR, Grinberg LT, Attems J. Vascular dementia: Different forms of vessel disorders contribute to the development of dementia in the elderly brain. Exp Gerontol. 2012;47:816–824.
- 46. Strub R. Vascular Dementia. Ochsner J. 2003;5:40–43.
- Korczyn A, Bornstein N, Kulisevsky J. Vascular dementia 2009. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 2010;299:1.
- 48. O'Brien J. Vascular cognitive impairment. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2006;14:724–733.
- 49. Pendlebury ST, Rothwell PM, Vascular O. Incidence and prevalence of dementia

associated with transient ischaemic attack and stroke : analysis of the population-based Oxford Vascular Study. Lancet Neurol. 2019;18:248–258.

- 50. Snowdon D, Greiner L, Mortimer J, Greiner P, Markesbery W. Brain infarction and the clinical expression of Alzheimer disease. The Nun Study. JAMA. 1997;277:813–817.
- 51. Prins ND, Scheltens P. White matter hyperintensities, cognitive impairment and dementia: an update. Nat Rev Neurol. 2015;11:157–165.
- de Leeuw F, de Groot J, van Gijn J. Cerebral white matter lesions in the elderly: vascular risk factors and cognitive consequences [Dutch]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. 2001;145:2067– 2071.
- 53. Pantoni L, Garcia J. Pathogenesis of leukoaraosis: a review. Stroke. 1997;28:652–629.
- 54. Verhaaren B, Vermoiij M, de Boer R, Hofman A, Niessen W, van der Lugt A, et al. High blood pressure and cerebral white matter lesion progression in the general population.
 2013;61:1354–1359.
- 55. Kim K, MacFall J, Payne M. Classification of white matter lesions on magnetic resonance imaging in elderly persons. Biol Psychiatry. 2008;64:273–280.
- 56. Gouw A, Seewann A, van der Flier W, Barkhof F, Rozemuller A, Scheltens P, et al. Heterogeneity of small vessel disease: a systematic review of MRI and histopathology correlations. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011;82:126–135.
- 57. Lee S, Vigar F, Zimmerman M, Narkhede A, Tosto G, Benzinger T, et al. White matter hyperintensities are a core feature of Alzheimer's disease: Evidence from the dominantly inherited Alzheimer network. Ann Neurol. 2016;79:929–939.
- Barnes J, Carmichael OT, Leung KK, Schwarz C, Ridgway GR, Bartlett JW, et al.
 Vascular and Alzheimer's disease markers independently predict brain atrophy rate in

Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative controls. 2013;34:1996-2002.

- Attems J, Jellinger K. The overlap between vascular disease and Alzheimer's disease lessons from pathology. BMC Med. 2014;12:206.
- Savva G, Wharton S, Path FRC. Age, neuropathology, and dementia. N Engl J Med.
 2009;360:2302–2309.
- 61. Wharton S, Brayne C, Savva GM, et al. Epidemiological neuropathology: the MRC cognitive function and ageing study experience. J Alzheimers Dis. 2011;25:359–372.
- 62. Iemolo F, Duro G, Rizzo C, Castiglia L, Hachinski V, Caruso C. Pathophysiology of vascular dementia. Immun Ageing. 2009;6:13.
- 63. Hachinski V, Iadecola C, Petersen RC, Breteler MM, Nyenhuis DL, Black SE, et al. National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke-Canadian Stroke Network vascular cognitive impairment harmonization standards. Stroke. 2006;37:2220–2241.
- 64. Obisesan T. Hypertension and Cognitive Function. Clin Geriatr Med. 2009;25:259–288.
- Tzourio C. Hypertension, cognitive decline, and dementia: an epidemiological perspective. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2007;9:61–70.
- 66. Peila R, White L, Masaki K, Petrovitch H, Launder L. Reducing the risk of dementia: efficacy of long-term treatment of hypertension. Stroke. 2006;37:1165–1170.
- Kivipelto M, Helkala E, Laaskso M, Hanninen T, Hallikainen M, Alhainen K, et al. Midlife vascular risk factors and late-life mild cognitive impairment: a population-based study. Neurology. 2001;56:1683–1689.
- Launer L, Ross G, Petrovitch H, Masaki K, Foley D, White L, et al. Midlife blood pressure and dementia: the Honolulu-Asia aging study. Neurobiol Aging. 2000;56:1683– 1689.

- 69. Skoog I, Lernfelt B, Landahl S, Pamertz B, Andreasson L, Nilsson L, et al. 15-year longitudinal study of blood pressure and dementia. Lancet. 1996;347:1141–1145.
- Duron E, Hanon O. Vascular risk factors, cognitive decline, and dementia. Vasc Heal Risk Manag. 2008;4:363–381.
- Korf E, White L, Sheltens P, Launer L. Midlife blood pressure and the risk of hippocampal atrophy: the Honolulu Asia aging study. Hypertension. 2004;44:29–34.
- 72. Venkat P, Chopp M, Chen J. Models and mechanisms of vascular dementia. Experimental Neurology. 2015;272:97–108.
- 73. Prunell G, Mathiesen T, Svendgaard N. Experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: cerebral blood flow and brain metabolism during the acute phase in three different models in the rat. Neurosurgery. 2004;54:426–436.
- 74. de la Torre J. Impaired cerebromicrovascular perfusion. Summary of evidence in support of its causality in Alzheimer's disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;924:136–152.
- de la Torre J. Cerebral hypoperfusion, capillary degeneration, and development of Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2000;14:S72-81.
- de la Torre J. Critical threshold cerebral hypoperfusion causes Alzheimer's disease? Acta Neuropathol. 1999;98:1–8.
- de la Torre J. Alzheimer disease as a vascular disorder: nosological evidence. Stroke.2002;33:1152–1162.
- Khare S. Risk factors of transient ischemic attack: An overview. J Midlife Health. 2016;7:2.
- Fisher M. Stroke and TIA: Epidemiology, risk factors, and the need for early intervention.
 Am J Manag Care. 2008;14:S204-211.

- Coutts SB, Simon JE, Eliasziw M, Sohn CH, Hill MD, Barber PA, et al. Triaging transient ischemic attack and minor stroke patients using acute magnetic resonance imaging. Ann Neurol. 2005;57:848–854.
- Levine D, Galecki A, Langa K, Unverzagt F, Kabeto M, Giordani B, et al. Trajectory of cognitive decline after incident stroke. JAMA. 2015;314:41–51.
- Van Rooij FG, Schaapsmeerders P, Maaijwee NAM, Van Duijnhoven DAHJ, De Leeuw FE, Kessels RPC, et al. Persistent cognitive impairment after transient ischemic attack. Stroke. 2014;45:2270-2274.
- Sachdev P, Lipnicki D, Crawford J, Wen W, Brodaty H. Progression of cognitive impairment in stroke/TIA patients over 3 years. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85:1324–1330.
- 84. Pendlebury S, Chen P, Mehta Z. Long-term risk of dementia after TIA and stroke: Current estimates from a large population-based study. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2013;35:187.
- Bivard A, Lillicrap T, Maréchal B, Garcia-Esperon C, Holliday E, Krishnamurthy V, et al. Transient ischemic attack results in delayed brain atrophy and cognitive decline. Stroke. 2018;49:384–390.
- Walters R, Fox N, Schott J, Crum W, Stevens J, Rossor M, et al. Transient ischaemic attacks are associated with increased rates of global cerebral atrophy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74:213–216.
- Munir M, Ursenbach J, Reid M, Sah RG. Longitudinal brain atrophy rates in transient ischemic attack and minor ischemic stroke patients and cognitive profiles. Front Neurol. 2019;10:1–9.
- 88. Pendlebury S, Klaus S, Thomson R, Mehta Z, Wharton R, Rothwell P. Methodological

factors in determining risk of dementia after transient ischemic attack and stroke (III) applicability of cognitive tests. Stroke. 2015;46:3067–3073.

- 89. Melkas S, Oksala N, Jokinen H, Pohjasvaara T, Vataja R, Oksala A, et al. Poststroke dementia predicts poor survival in long-term follow-up: influence of prestroke cognitive decline and previous stroke. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80:865–870.
- Kalaria RN. Neuropathological diagnosis of vascular cognitive impairment and vasucal dementia with implications for Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131:659– 685.
- 91. Zarei M, Damoiseaux J, Morgese C, Beckmann C, Smith S, Matthews P, et al. Regional white matter integrity differentiates between vascular dementia and Alzheimer disease. Stroke. 2009;40:773–779.
- 92. Corder EH, Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel DE, Gaskell PC, Small GW, et al. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science. 1993;261:921–923.
- 93. Norton S, Matthews F, Barnes D, Yaffe K, Brayne C. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:788–794.
- 94. SHEP Cooperative Research Group. Prevention of stroke by antihypertensive drug treatment in older persons with isolated systolic hypertension. Final results of the Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly Program (SHEP). JAMA. 1991;265:3255–3264.
- 95. Prince M, Bird A, Blizard R, Mann A. Is the cognitive function of older patients affected by antihypertensive treatment? Results from 54 months of the Medical Research Council's trial of hypertension in older adults. BMJ. 1996;312:801–805.

- 96. Forette F, Seux M, Staessen J, Thijs L, Birkenhager W, Babarskiene M, et al. Prevention of dementia in randomised double-blind placebo-controlled Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Syst-Eur) trial. Lancet. 1998;352:1347–1351.
- 97. Peters R, Beckett N, Forette F, Tuomilehto J, Clarke R, Ritchie C, et al. Incident dementia and blood pressure lowering in the Hypertension in the Very Elderly Trial cognitive function assessment (HYVET-COG): a double-blind, placebo controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7:683–689.
- 98. Tzourio C, Anderson C, Chapman N, Woodward M, Neal B, MacMahon S, et al. Effects of blood pressure lowering with perindopril and indapamide therapy on dementia and cognitive decline in patients with cerebrovascular disease. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163:1069–1075.
- 99. Lithell H, Hansson L, Skoog I, Elmfeldt D, Hofan A, Olofsson B, et al. The Study on Cognition and Prognosis in the Elderly (SCOPE): principal results of a randomized double-blind intervention trial. J Hypertens. 2003;21:875–886.
- Ngandu T, Lehtisalo J, Solomon A, Levälahti E, Ahtiluoto S, Antikainen R, et al. A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): A randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015;385:2255–2263.
- Harrison JC, Minassian SL, Jenkins L, Black R, Koller M, Grundman M. A neuropsychological test battery for use in Alzheimer disease clinical trials. JAMA Neurol. 2007;64:1323–1329.
- Salthouse T. Aging cognition unconfounded by prior test experience. J Geront B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2016;71:49–58.

- 103. van Charante EPM, Richard E, Eurelings LS, van Dalen JW, Ligthart SA, van Bussel EF, et al. Effectiveness of a 6-year multidomain vascular care intervention to prevent dementia (preDIVA): a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;388:797–805.
- 104. Vellas B, Carrie I, Gillette-Guyonnet S, Touchon J, Dantoine T, Dartigues J, et al. MAPT Study: A multidomain Approach for Preventing Alzheimer's Disease: Design and baseline data. 2014;1:13–22.
- 105. Richard E, Jongstra S, Soininen H, Brayne C, Moll van Charante E, Meiller Y, et al. Healthy ageing through internet counselling in the elderly: the HATICE randomised controlled for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and cognitive impairment. BMJ Open. 2016;6.
- Grober E, Buschke H, Crystal H, Bang S, Dresner R. Screening for dementia by memory testing. Neurology. 1988;38:900–903.
- 107. Holman R, Lindeboom R, Vermeulen M, de Haan R. The AMC Linear Disability Score project in a population requiring residential care: psychometric properties. Heal Qual Life Outcomes. 2004;2:42.
- 108. van Middelaar T, Beishuizen C, Guillemont J, Barbera M, Richard E, Moll van Charante E, et al. Engaging older people in an internet platform for cardiovascular risk self-management: a qualitative study among Dutch HATICE participants. BMJ Open. 2018;8:1.
- 109. Solomon A, Mangialasche F, Richard E, Andrieu S, David A, Breteler M, et al. Advances in the prevention of Alzheimer 's disease and dementia. 2015;275:229–250.
- 110. Daviglus M, Bell C, Berrettini W, Bowen P, Connolly EJ, Cox N, et al. National Institutes of Health State-of-the-Science Conference statement: preventing Alzheimer disease and

cognitive decline. Ann Intern Med. 2011;153:176–181.

- 111. Yang Z, Slavin M, Sachdev P. Dementia in the oldest old. Nat Rev Neurol. 2013;9:382-393.
- Morris JC, Blennow K, Froelich L, Nordberg A, Soininen H, Waldemar G, et al.
 Harmonized diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease: recommendations. J Intern Med.
 2014;275:204–213.
- 113. Dubois B, Feldman H, Jacova C, DeKosky S, Barberger-Gateau P, Cummings J, et al. Research criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: revising the NINCDS–ADRDA criteria. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6:734–746.
- Dubois B. Advancing research diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease: the IWG-2 criteria. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:614–629.
- 115. Jack C, Bennet D, Blennow K, Carrillo M, Dunn B, Haeberlein S, et al. NIA-AA research framework: toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2018;14:535–562.
- 116. Albert M, Dekosky S, Dickson D. The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011;7:270–279.
- 117. Sperling R, Aisen P, Beckett L. Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011;7:280–292.
- 118. ten Kate M, Ingala S, Schwarz A, Fox N, Chetelat G, van Berckel B, et al. Secondary

prevention of Alzheimer's dementia: neuroimaging contributions. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2018;10:112.

- Chan D, Fox N, Jenkins R, Scahill R, Crum W, Rossor M. Rates of global and regional cerebral atrophy in AD and frontotemporal dementia. Neurol J AMA. 2001;57:1756– 1763.
- 120. Fox NC, Scahill RI, Crum WR, Rossor MN. Correlation between rates of brain atrophy and cognitive decline in AD. Neurology. 1999;52:1687–1687.
- 121. Silbert LC, Quinn JF, Moore MM, Corbridge E, Ball MJ, Murdoch G, et al. Changes in premorbid brain volume predict Alzheimer's disease pathology. Neurology. 2003;61:487–492.
- 122. Whitwell J, Jack CJ, Parisi J, Knopman D, Boeve B, Petersen R, et al. Rates of cerebral atrophy differ in different degenerative pathologies. Brain. 2007;130:1148–1158.
- 123. Jack Jr. C, Shiung M, Weigand S, O'Brien P, Gunter J, Boeve B, et al. Brain atrophy rates predict subsequent clinical conversion in normal elderly and amnestic MCI. Neurology. 2005;65:1227–1231.
- 124. Evans MC, Barnes J, Nielsen C, Kim LG, Clegg SL, Blair M, et al. Volume changes in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment: Cognitive associations. Eur Radiol. 2010;20:674–682.
- 125. Spulber G, Niskanen E, Macdonald S, Smilovici O, Chen K, Reiman EM, et al. Whole brain atrophy rate predicts progression from MCI to Alzheimer 's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2010;31:1601–1605.
- Hubbard B, Anderson J. A quantitative study of cerebral atrophy in old age and senile dementia. J Neurol Sci. 1981;53:181–188.

- 127. Price J, Ko A, Wade M, Tsou S, McKeel D, Morris J. Neuron number in the entorhinal cortex and CA1 in preclinical Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 2001;58:1395–1402.
- Schott J, Barlett J, Fox N, Barnes J, Investigators ADNI. Increased brain atrophy rates in cognitively normal older adults with low cerebrospinal fluid Aβ1-42. Ann Neurol. 2010;68:825–834.
- 129. Bourgeat P, Chetelat G, Villemagne V, Fripp J, Raniga P, Pike K, et al. Beta-amyloid burden in the temporal neocortex is related to hippocampal atrophy in elderly subjects without dementia. Neurology. 2010;74:121–127.
- 130. Schott J, Fox N, Frost C, Scahill R, Janssen J, Chan D, et al. Assessing the onset of structural change in familial Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol. 2003;53:181–188.
- 131. Kantarci K, Weigand S, Przybelski S, Preboske G, Pankratz V, Vemuri P, et al. MRI and MRS predictors of mild cognitive impairment in a population-based sample. Neurology. 2013;34:431–437.
- Killiany R, Hyman B, Gomez-Isla T, Moss M, Kikinis R, Jolesz F, et al. MRI measures of entorhinal cortex vs hippocampus in preclinical AD. Neurology. 2002;58:1188–1196.
- 133. Scahill R, Schott J, Stevens J, Rossor M, Fox N. Mapping the evolution of regional atrophy in Alzheimer's disease: unbiased analysis of fluid-registered serial MRI. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2002;99:4703–4707.
- 134. Clark C, Xie S, Chittams J, Ewbank D, Peskind E, Galasko D, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau and beta-amyloid: how well do these biomarkers reflect autopsy-confirmed dementia diagnoses? Arch Neurol. 2003;60:1696–1702.
- 135. Guo H, Siu W, D'Arcy R, Black S, Grajauskas L, Singh S, et al. MRI assessment of whole-brain structural changes in aging. Clin Interv Aging. 2017;12:1251–1270.

- 136. Mueller SG, Yushkevich P, Das S, Wang L, Van Leemput K, Iglesias J, et al. Systematic comparison of different techniques to measure hippocampal subfield volumes in ADNI2. NeuroImage Clin. 2018;17:1006–1018.
- 137. Bin Zahid A, Mikheev A, Srivatsa N, Babb J, Samadani U, Rusinek H. Accelerated brain atrophy on serial computed tomography: potential marker of the progression of Alzheimer's disease. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2016;40:827–832.
- Rossi R, Joachim C, Smith A, Frisoni G. The CT-based radial width of the temporal horn: pathological validation in AD without cerebrovascular disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2004;19:570–574.
- Zhang Y, Londos E, Minthon L, et al. Usefulness of computed tomography linear measurements in diagnosing Alzheimer's disease. Acta Radiol. 2008;49:91–97.
- 140. Halliday G. Pathology and hippocampal atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16:862–864.
- 141. Montine T, Phelps C, Beach T, Bigio E, Cairns N, Dickson D, et al. National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease: a practical approach. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123:1–11.
- 142. Henneman W, Sluimer J, Barnes J, van der Flier W, Sluimer I, Fox N, et al. Hippocampal atrophy rates in Alzheimer disease: Added value over whole brain volume measures. Neurology. 2009;72:999–1007.
- 143. den Heijer T, Geerlings M, Hoebeek F, Hofman A, Koudstaal P, Breteler M. Use of hippocampal and amygdalar volumes on magnetic resonance imaging to predict dementia in cognitively intact elderly people. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2006;63:57–62.
- 144. den Heijer T, van der Lijn F, Koudstaal P, Hofman A, van der Lugt A, Krestin G, et al. A

10-year follow-up of hippocampal volume on magnetic resonance imaging in early dementia and cognitive decline. Brain. 2010;133:1163–1172.

- 145. Martin S, Smith C, Collins H, Schmitt F, Gold B. Evidence that volume of anterior medial temporal lobe is reduced in seniors destined for mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging. 2010;31:1099–1106.
- 146. Erten-Lyons D, Dodge H, Woltjer R, Silbert L, Howieson D, Kramer P, et al.Neuropathologic basis of age-associated brain atrophy. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70:616–622.
- 147. Josephs KA, Dickson D, Tosakulwong N, Weigand S, Murray M, Petrucelli L, et al. Rates of hippocampal atrophy and post-mortem TDP-43 in Alzheimer's disease: a longitudinal retrospective study. Lancet Neurol. 2018;16:917–924.
- 148. Wolz R, Schwarz A, Gray K, et al. Enrichment of clinical trials in MCI due to AD using markers of amyloid and neurodegeneration. Neurology. 2016;87:1235–1241.
- 149. Sluimer JD, Bouwman FH, Vrenken H, Blankenstein MA, Barkhof F, van der Flier WM, et al. Whole-brain atrophy rate and CSF biomarker levels in MCI and AD: A longitudinal study. Neurobiol Aging. 2010;31:758–764.
- 150. Hall A, Moore R, Lopez O, Kuller L, Becker J. Basal forebrain atrophy is a presymptomatic marker for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2008;4:271–279.
- 151. Tondelli M, Wilcock GK, Nichelli P, de Jager CA, Jenkinson M, Zamboni G. Structural MRI changes detectable up to ten years before clinical Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2012;33:825.
- Fox NC, Schott JM. Imaging cerebral atrophy: Normal ageing to Alzheimer's disease.
 Lancet. 2004;363:392–394.
- 153. Schott JM, Crutch SJ, Frost C, Warrington EK, Rossor MN, Fox NC. Neuropsychological

correlates of whole brain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychologia. 2008;46:1732–1737.

- 154. Pacheco J, Goh J, Kraut M, Ferrucci L, Resnick S. Greater cortical thinning in normal older adults predicts later cognitive impairment. Neurbiol Aging. 2015;36:903–908.
- 155. Peng Y, Li S, Zhuang Y, Liu X, Wu L, Gong H, et al. Density abnormalities in normalappearing gray matter in the middle-aged brain with white matter hyperintense lesions: a DARTEL-enhanced voxel-based morphometry study. Clin Interv Aging. 2016;11:615– 622.
- 156. Boyle P, Wilson R, Yu L, Barr A, Honer W, Schneider J, et al. Much of late life cognitive decline is not due to common neurodegenerative pathologies. Ann Neurol. 74;3:478–489.
- 157. Tosto G, Zimmerman M, Carmichael O, Brickman A. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative Predicting aggressive decline in mild cognitive impairment: the importance of white matter hyperintensities. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71:872–877.
- 158. Iturria-Medina Y, Sotero R, Toussaint P, Mateos-Perez J, Evans A, ADNI. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative Early role of vascular dysregulation on late-onset Alzheimer's disease based on multifactorial data-driven analysis. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11934.
- 159. Cai Z, Wang C, He W, Tu H, Tang Z, Xiao M, et al. Cerebral small vessel disease and Alzheimer's disease. Clin Interv Aging. 2015;10:1695–1704.
- 160. Zlokovic B. Neurovascular pathways to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011;12:723–738.
- 161. Iadecola C. The pathobiology of vascular dementia. Neuron. 2013;80:844–866.
- 162. Montagne A, Barnes S, Sweeney M, Halliday M, Sagare A, Zhao Z, et al. Blood-Brain

barrier breakdown in the aging human hippocampus. Neuron. 2015;85:296–302.

- 163. Snyder H, Corriveau R, Craft S, Faber J, Greenberg S, Knopman D, et al. Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia including Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement J Alzheimers Assoc. 2015;11:710–717.
- 164. Iadecola C, Davisson R. Hypertension and cerebrovascular dysfunction. Cell Metab.2008;7:476–484.
- 165. Toledo JB, Arnold SE, Raible K, Brettschneider J, Xie SX, Grossman M, et al. Contribution of cerebrovascular disease in autopsy confirmed neurodegenerative disease cases in the National Alzheimer's Coordinating Centre. Brain. 2013;136:2697–2706.
- 166. Chao L, Pa J, Duarte A, Schuff N, Weiner M, Kramer J, et al. Patterns of cerebral hypoperfusion in amnestic and dysexecutive MCI. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2009;23:245–252.
- 167. Alsop DC, Detre JA, Grossman M. Assessment of cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer's disease by spin-labeled magnetic resonance imaging. Ann Neurol. 2000;47:93–100.
- Nelson A, Sweeney M, Sagare A, Zlokovic B. Neurovascular dysfunction and neurodegeneration in dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1862:887–900.
- 169. Sweeney M, Al. E. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of neurovascular dysfunction in mild dementia and Alzheimer's disease. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2015;35:1055–1068.
- 170. Winkler E, Sagare A, Zlokovic B. The pericyte: a forgotten cell type with important implications for Alzheimer's disease? Brain Pathol Zurich Switz. 2014;24:371–386.
- 171. Sagare A, Bell R, Zlokovic B. Neurovascular defects and faulty amyloid-β vascular clearance in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis JAD. 2013;33:S87-100.
- Zlokovic B. Neurovascular mechanisms of Alzheimer's neurodegeneration. Trends Neurosci. 2005;28:202–208.
- Bell R, Deane R, Chow N, Long X, Sagare A, Singh I, et al. SRF and myocardin regulate
 LRP-mediated amyloid-beta clearance in brain vascular cells. Nat Cell Biol. 2009;11:143–
 153.
- 174. Barnes J. Exercise, cognitive function, and aging. Adv Physiol Educ. 2015;39:55-62.
- 175. Hamer M, Chida Y. Physical activity and risk of neurodegenerative disease: a systematic review of prospective evidence. Psychol Med. 2009;29:3–11.
- 176. Smith P, Blumenthal J, Hoffman B, Cooper H, Strauman T, Welsh-Bohmer K, et al. Aerobic exercise and neurocognitive performance: a meta-analytic review of randomized controlled trials. Psychosom Med. 2010;72:239–252.
- 177. Young J, Angevaren M, Rusted J, Tabet N. Aerobic exercise to improve cognitive function in older people without known cognitive impairment. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;4.
- 178. Wang Z, Das SR, Xie SX, Arnold SE, Detre JA, Wolk DA. Arterial spin labeled MRI in prodromal Alzheimer's disease: A multi-site study. NeuroImage Clin. 2013;2:630–636.
- 179. Alexopoulos P, Sorg C, Förschler A, Grimmer T, Skokou M, Wohlschläger A, et al. Perfusion abnormalities in mild cognitive impairment and mild dementia in Alzheimer's disease measured by pulsed arterial spin labeling MRI. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2012;262:69–77.
- 180. Dai W, Lopez OL, Carmichael OT, Becker JT, Kuller LH, Gach HM. Mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease: patterns of altered cerebral blood flow at MR imaging. Radiology. 2009;250:856–866.

- 181. Chao LL, Buckley ST, Kornak J, Schuff N, Madison C, Yaffe K, et al. ASL perfusion MRI predicts cognitive decline and conversion from MCI to dementia. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2010;24:19–27.
- 182. Xu G, Antuono PG, Jones J, Xu Y, Wu G, Ward D, et al. Perfusion fMRI detects deficits in regional CBF during memory-encoding tasks in MCI subjects. Neurology. 2007;69:1650–1656.
- Rice L, Bisdas S. The diagnostic value of FDG and amyloid PET in Alzheimer's disease a systematic review. Eur J Radiol. 2017;94:16–24.
- Mosconi W, Tsui W, Herholz K. Multicenter standardized 18F-FDG PET diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, and other dementias. J Nucl Med. 2008;2:390–398.
- 185. Hoffman J, Welsh-Bohmer K, Hanson M. FDG PET imaging in patients with pathologically verified dementia. J Nucl Med. 2000;11:2120–2127.
- 186. Chetelat G, Desgranges B, de la Sayette V. Mild cognitive impairment: can FDG-PET predict who is to rapidly convert to Alzheimer's disease? Neurology. 2003;60:1374–2340.
- Villemagne V, Pike K. Longitudinal assessment of AB and cognition in aging and Alzheimer disease. Ann Neurol. 2001;69:181–192.
- 188. Mosconi L, Perani D, Sorbi S. MCI convversion to dementia and the APOE genotype: a prediction study with FDG-PET. Neurology. 2004;63:2332–2340.
- Anchisi D, Borroni B, Franceschi M, et al. Heterogeneity of brain glucose metabolism in mild cognitive impairment and clinical progression to Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:1728–1733.
- 190. Huang CW, Hsu SW, Chang YT, Huang SH, Huang YC, Lee CC, et al. Cerebral perfusion

insufficiency and relationships with cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease: A multiparametric neuroimaging study. Sci Rep. 2018;8:1541.

- 191. Yoshiura T, Mihara F, Kuwabara Y, Ogomori K, Kaneko K, Tanaka A, et al. MR relative cerebral blood flow mapping of Alzheimer disease: correlation with Tc-99m HMPAO Spect. Acta Radiol. 2002;9:1383–1387.
- 192. Olazaran J, Alvarez-Linera J, de Santiago R, Escribano J, Benito-Leon J, Morales J. Regional correlations between MR imaging perfusion and SPECT in Alzheimer's disease. Neurologia. 2005;20:240–244.
- Holman B, Tumeh S. Single-photo emission computed tomography (SPECT).Applications and potential. JAMA. 1990;263:561–564.
- 194. Niemantsverdriet E, Valckx S, Bjerke M, Engelborghs S. Alzheimer's disease CSF bioamarkers: clinical indiciations and rational use. Acta Neuro Belg. 2017;117:591–602.
- 195. Olsson B, Lautner R, Andreasson U, Ohrfelt A, Portelius E, Bjerke M, et al. CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15:673–684.
- Blennow K, Hampel H. CSF markers for incipient Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2003;2:605–613.
- Blennow K. A review of fluid biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: moving from CSF to blood. Neurol Ther. 2017;6:15–24.
- 198. Hansson O, Zetterberg H, Buchhave P, et al. Association between CSF biomarkers and incipient Alzheimer's disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment: a follow-up study. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5:228–234.
- 199. Visser P, Verhey F, Scheltens P, et al. Prevalence and prognostic value of CSF markers of

Alzhiemer's disease pathology in patients with subjective cognitive impairment or mild cognitive impairment in the DESCRIPA study: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:619–627.

- 200. Shaw L, Vanderstichele H, Knapik-Czajka M, Clark C, Aisen P, Petersen R, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker signature in Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative subjects. Ann Neurol. 2009;65:403–413.
- 201. Mattsson N, Zetterberg H, Hansson O, Andreasen N, Parnetti L, Jonsson M, et al. CSF biomarkers and incipient Alzheimer disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment. JAMA. 2009;302:385–393.
- 202. Mattsson N, Andreassson U, Persson S, Arai H, Batish S, Bernardini S, et al. The Alzheimer's Association external quality control program for cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers. Alzheimers Dement J Alzheimers Assoc. 2011;7:386–395.
- 203. Nakamura A, Kaneko N, Villemagne V, Kato T, Doecke J, Dore V, et al. High performance plasma amyloid-β biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. Nature. 2018;554:249–254.
- 204. Nabers A, Perna L, Lange J, Mons U, Schartner J, Guldenhaupt J, et al. Amyloid blood biomarker detects Alzheimer's disease. EMBO Mol Med. 2018;10:e8763.
- 205. Klunk W, Engler H, Nordberg A. Imaging brain amyloid in Alzheimer's disease with Pittsburgh compound B. Ann Neurol. 2004;3:306–319.
- 206. Klunk W, Wang Y, Huang G. Uncharged thioflavin-T derivatives bind to amyloid-beta protein with high affinity and readily enter the brain. Life Sci. 2001;69:1471–1484.
- 207. Ikonomivic M, Klunk W, Abrahamson E. Post-mortem correlates of in vivo PiB-PET amyloid imaging in a typical case of Alzheimer's disease. Brain. 2008;131:1630–1645.

- 208. Leionen V, Alafuzoff I, Aalto S. Assessment of beta-amyloid in a frontal cortical brain biopsy specimen and by positron emission tomography with carbon 11-labeled Pittsburgh Compound B. Arch Neurol. 2008;65:1304–1309.
- 209. Roberts B, Lind M, Wagen A, et al. Biochemically-defined pools of amyloid-β in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: correlation with amyloid PET. Brain. 2017;140:1486–1498.
- 210. Frisoni G, Bocchetta M, Chetelat G, Rabinovici G, de Leon M, Kaye J, et al. Imaging markers for Alzheimer disease: which vs how. Neurology. 2013;81:487–500.
- 211. Morris J, Roe C, Grant E, Head D, Storandt M, Goate A, et al. Pittsburgh compound B imaging and prediction of progression from cognitive normality to symptomatic Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 2009;66:1469–1475.
- Storandt M, Mintun M, Head D, Morris J. Cognitive decline and brain volume loss as signatures of cerebral amyloid-β peptide deposition identified with Pittsburgh compound B: cognitive decline associated with aβ deposition. Arch Neurol. 2009;66:1476–1481.
- Resnick S, Sojkova J, Zhou Y. Longitudinal cognitive decline is associated with fibrillar amyloid-beta measured by [11C]PiB. Neurology. 2010;74:807–815.
- 214. Lim Y, Ellis K, Pietrzak R, Ames D, Darby D, Harrington K, et al. Stronger effect of amyloid load than APOE genotype on cognitive decline in healthy older adults. Neurology. 2012;79:1645–1652.
- 215. Kawas C, Greenia D, Bullain S. Amyloid imaging and cognitive decline in nondemented oldest-old: the 90 + Study. Alzheimers Dement. 2013;9:199–203.
- 216. Doraiswamy P, Sperling R, Johnson K, Reiman E, Wong T, Sabbagh M, et al. Florbetapir
 F 18 amyloid PET and 36-month cognitive decline: a prospective multicenter study. Mol
 Psychiatry. 2014;19:1044–1051.

- 217. Vemuri P, Lesnick T, Przybelski S, Knopman D, Preboske G, Kantarci K, et al. Vascular and amyloid pathologies are independent predictors of cognitive decline in normal elderly. Brain. 2015;138:761–771.
- 218. Petersen R, Wiste H, Weigand S, Rocca W, Roberts R, Mielke M, et al. Association of elevated amyloid levels with cognition and biomarkers in cognitively normal people from the community. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73:85.
- Donohue M, Sperling R, Petersen R, Al. E. Association between elevated brain amyloid and subsequent cognitive decline among cognitively normal persons. JAMA. 2017;317:2305–2316.
- 220. Rowe C, Bourgeat P, Ellis K, Brown B, Lim Y, Mulligan R, et al. Predicting Alzheimer disease with β-amyloid imaging: results from the Australian imaging, biomarkers, and lifestyle study of ageing. Ann Neurol. 2013;74:905–913.
- 221. Ewers M, Insel P, Jagust W, Shaw L, Trojanowski J, Aisen P, et al. CSF biomarker and PIB-PET-derived beta-amyloid signature predicts metabolic, gray matter, and cognitive changes in nondemented subjects. Cereb Cortex. 2012;22:1993–2004.
- 222. Dickerson B, Wolk D, ADNI. Biomarker-based prediction of progression in MCI: comparison of AD signature and hippocampal volume with spinal fluid amyloid-β and tau. Front Aging Neurosci. 2013;5:55.
- Marchant N, Reed B, DeCarli C. Cerebrovascular disease, beta-amyloid and cognition in aging. Neurobiol Aging. 2011;3:798–807.
- 224. Scheltens P, Blennow K, Breteler M. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet. 2016;388:505–517.
- 225. Wirth M, Villeneuve S, Haase C, Madison C, Oh H, Landau S, et al. Associations between Alzheimer disease biomarkers, neurodegeneration, and cognition in cognitively normal

older people. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70:1512–1519.

- 226. Mormino E, Betensky R, Hedden T, Schultz A, Amariglio R, Rentz D, et al. Synergistic effect of β-amyloid and neurodegeneration on cognitive decline in clinically normal individuals. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71:1379–1385.
- 227. Insel P, Palmqvist S, Mackin R, Nosheny R, Hansson O, Weiner M, et al. Assessing risk for preclinical β-amyloid pathology with APOE, cognitive, and demographic information. Alzheimers Dement. 2016;4:76–84.
- 228. Mortamais M, Ash JA, Harrison K, et al. Detecting cognitive changes in preclinicalAlzheimer's disease: A review of its feasibility. Alzheimer's Dement. 2017;13:468–492.
- 229. Salmon D. Neuropsychological features of mild cognitive impairment and preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2012;10:187–212.
- Twamley E, Ropacki S, Bondi M. Neuropsychological and neuroimaging changes in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Soc, J Int Neuropsychol. 2006;12:707–735.
- Aisen P. Cognitive/clinical endpoints for pre-dementia AD trials. J Prev Alzheimer's Dis.
 2014;2:82–84.
- Velayudhan L, Ryu S, Raczek M, Philpot M, Lindesay J, Critchfield M, et al. Review of brief cognitive tests for patients with suspected dementia. Int Psychogeriatr. 2014;26:1247–1262.
- 233. Bondi MW, Smith GE. Mild cognitive impairment: A concept and diagnostic entity in need of input from neuropsychology. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society. 2014;20:129–34.
- 234. Edmonds EC, Delano-Wood L, Galasko DR, Salmon DP, Bondi MW. Subtle cognitive decline and biomarker staging in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis.

2015;47:231-242.

- Greene S, Killiany R. Hippocampal subregion are differentially affected in the progression to Alzheimer's disease. Anat Rec. 2012;295:132–140.
- Ard CM, Edland SD. Power calculations for clinical trials in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013;26:269–377.
- International AD. World Alzheimer Report 2018. Int Fed Alzheimer's Dis Relat Disord Soc Inc. 2018.
- Nucera A, Vladimir H. Cerebrovascular and Alzheimer disease: fellow travelers or partners in crime? J Neurochem. 2018;144:513–516.
- 239. Tariq S, D'Esterre C, Sajobi T, Smith E, Longman R, Frayne R, et al. A longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study of neurodegenerative and small vessel disease, and clinical cognitive trajectories in non demented patients with transient ischemic attack: the PREVENT study. BMC Geriatr. 2018;18:163.
- 240. A Classification and Outline of Cerebrovascular Diseases II. Stroke. 1975;6:564–616.
- 241. Jack CR, Bennett DA, Blennow K, Carrillo MC, Dunn B, Haeberlein SB, et al. NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Dement. 2018;14:535–562.
- 242. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res. 1975;12:189–198.
- 243. Petersen RC, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Donohue MC, Gamst AC, Harvey DJ, et al. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI): Clinical characterization. Neurology. 2010;74:201-209.
- 244. Ralph H, Benedict B, Schretlen D, Groninger L, Dobraski M, Shpritz B, et al. Revision of

the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test : studies of normal performance, reliability, and validity. 1996;8:145–153.

- 245. Rey A. L'examen clinique en psychologie. Press Univ Fr. 1964;222.
- 246. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale: WAIS-IV Canadian. Pearson. 2008.
- 247. Bowie C, Harvey P. Administration and interpretation of the Trail Making Test. Nat Protoc. 2008;1:2277–2281.
- 248. Mioshi E, Dawson K, Mitchell J, Arnold R, Hodges JR. The Addenbrooke 's Cognitive Examination Revised (ACE-R): a brief cognitive test battery for dementia screening.
 2006:1078–85.
- 249. Amaral Carvalho V, Caramelli P. Normative data for healthy middle-aged and elderly performance on the Addenbrooke Cognitive Examination Revised. Cogn Behav Neurol. 2012;25:72–76.
- 250. Nasreddine Z, Phillips N, Bedirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005;53:695–699.
- Blair J, Spreen O. Predicting premorbid IQ: A revision of the national adult reading test. Clin Neuropsychol. 1989;3:129–136.
- Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: A self report depression scale for research in the general population. Appl Psychol Meas. 1977;1:285–401.
- 253. Smith S, Zhang Y, Jenkinson M, Chen J, Matthews P, Federico A, et al. Accurate, robust and automated longitudinal and cross-sectional brain change analysis. Neuroimage. 2002;17:479–489.
- 254. Smith S, Jenkinson M, Woolrich M, Beckmann C, Behrens T, Johansen-Berg H, et al.

Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. Neuroimage. 2004;23(S1):208–219.

- 255. Smith S, De Stefano N, Jenkinson M, Matthews P. Normalise accurate measurement of longitudinal brain change. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2001;25:466–475.
- 256. Smith S. Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum Brain Mapp. 2002;17:143–155.
- Jenkinson M, Smith S. A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. Med Image Anal. 2001;5:143–156.
- Jenkinson M, Bannister P, Brady J, Smith S. Improved optimisation for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. Neuroimage. 2002;17:825–841.
- 259. Zhang Y, Brady M, Smith S. Segmentation of brain MR images through a hidden Markov random field model and the expectation maximization algorithm. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2001;20:45–57.
- Gobbi D, Frayne R, Salluzi M. The cerebra software environment for quantitative lesion assessment. Can Stroke Conf. 2017.
- 261. Yushkevich PA, Piven J, Hazlett HC, Smith RG, Ho S, Cee JC, et al. User-guided 3D active contour segmentation of anatomical structures: Significantly improved efficiency and reliability. Neuroimage. 2006;31:1116–1128.
- 262. Crum RM, James C, Bassett SS. Norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by age and educational level population-based. 1984.
- 263. Magalhães SS, Hamdan AC. The Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test : normative data for the Brazilian population and analysis of the influence of demographic variables. 2010;85–91.

- 264. Tombaugh TN. Trail Making Test A and B : Normative data stratified by age and education. 2004;19:203–214.
- 265. Borland E, Katarina N, Palmqvist S. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment : Normative Data from a Large Swedish Population-Based Cohort. 2017;59:893–901.
- 266. Hurford R, Charidimou A, Fox Z, Cipolotti L, Jager R, Werring D. MRI-visible perivascular spaces: relationship to cognition and small vessel disease MRI markers in ischaemic stroke and TIA. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85:522–525.
- 267. Evans M, Barnes J, Nielsen C, Kim L, Clegg S, Blair M, et al. Volume changes in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment: cognitive associations. Eur Radiol. 2010;20:674–82.
- Salerno J, Murphi D, Horwitz B, DeCarli C, Haxby J, Rapoport S, et al. Brain atrophy in hypertension. A volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. Hypertension. 1992;20:340–348.
- 269. Petrovitch H, White L, Izmirilian G, Ross G, Havlik R, Markesbery W, et al. Midlife blood pressure and neuritic plaques, neurofibrillary tangles, and brain weight at death: the HAAS. Honolulu-Asia aging Study. Neurobiol Aging. 2000;21:57–62.
- 270. Van Rooij FG, Kessels RPC, Richard E, De Leeuw FE, Van Dijk EJ. Cognitive
 Impairment in transient ischemic attack patients: A systematic review. Cerebrovasc Dis.
 2016;42:1–9.
- 271. Van Rooij FG, Plaizier NO, Vermeer SE, Góraj BM, Koudstaal PJ, Richard E, et al. Subjective cognitive impairment, depressive symptoms, and fatigue after a TIA or transient neurological attack: A prospective study. Behav Neurol. 2017;2017.
- 272. Schott J, Bartlett J, Barnes J, Leung K, Ourselin S, Fox N. Reduced sample sizes for

atrophy outcomes in Alzheimer's disease trials: baseline adjustment. Neurobiol Aging. 2010;31:1452–1462.

- 273. Gorelick PB. Risk factors for vascular dementia and Alzheimer disease. Stroke.2004;35:2620–2622.
- 274. Li JQ, Tan L, Wang HF, Tan MS, Tan L, Xu W, et al. Risk factors for predicting progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2016;87:476-484.
- 275. Heath CA, Mercer SW, Guthrie B. Vascular comorbidities in younger people with dementia: A cross-sectional population-based study of 616 245 middle-aged people in Scotland. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86:959-964.
- 276. Altrichter S, Pendse N, Wissmeyer M, Jägersberg M, Federspiel A, Viallon M, et al. Arterial spin-labeling demonstrates ictal cortical hyperperfusion in epilepsy secondary to hemimegalencephaly. Journal of Neuroradiology. 2009;36:303-305.
- 277. Gaxiola-Valdez I, Singh S, Perera T, Sandy S, Li E, Federico P. Seizure onset zone localization using postictal hypoperfusion detected by arterial spin labelling MRI. Brain.
 2017;140:2895–2911.
- Mutsaerts H, Petr J, Vaclavu L, et al. The spatial coefficinet of variation in arterial spin labeling cerebral blood flow images. JCBFM. 2017;37:3184–3192.
- 279. Mutsaerts H, Mirza SS, Petr J, et al. Cerebral perfusion changes in presymptomatic genetic frontotemporal dementia: a GENFI study. Brain. 2019;142:1108–1120.
- Jenkinson M, Beckmann CF, Behrens TEJ, Woolrich MW, Smith SM. Fsl. Neuroimage.
 2012;62:782–790.
- 281. Patenaude B, Smith S, Kennedy D, Jenkinson M. A Bayesian model of shape and

appearance for subcortical brain segmentation. Neuroimage. 2011;56:907–922.

- 282. Desikan R, Segonne F, Fischl B, Quinn B, Dickerson B, Blacker D, et al. An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. Neuroimage. 2006;31:968–980.
- 283. Bartsch A, Bendszus N, De Stefano N, Homola G, Smith S. Extending SIENA for a multisubject statistical analysis of sample specific cerebral edge shifts: Substantiation of early brain regeneration through abstinence from alcoholism. Tenth Int Conf Funct Mapp Hum Brain. 2004.
- 284. Kaneta T, Katsuse O, Hirano T, Ogawa M, Shihikura-hino A, Yoshida K, et al. Voxelwise correlations between cognition and cerebral blood flow using arterial spin- labeled perfusion MRI in patients with Alzheimer 's disease : a cross-sectional study. BMC Neurol. 2017;15:91.
- 285. Leeuwis AE, Benedictus MR, Kuijer JPAA, Binnewijzend MAAA, Hooghiemstra AM, Verfaillie SCJJ, et al. Lower cerebral blood flow is associated with impairment in multiple cognitive domains in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Dement. 2017;13:531–540.
- 286. Xie L, Das SR, Pilania A, Daffner M, Stockbower GE, Dolui S, et al. Task-enhanced arterial spin labeled perfusion MRI predicts longitudinal neurodegeneration in mild cognitive impairment. Hippocampus. 2019;29:26-36.
- 287. Sun Y, Cao W, Ding W, Wang Y, Han X, Zhou Y, et al. Cerebral blood flow alterations as assessed by 3D ASL in cognitive impairment in patients with subcortical vascular cognitive impairment: A marker for disease severity. Front Aging Neurosci. 2016;8:1–9.
- 288. Bangen KJ, Clark AL, Edmonds EC, Evangelista ND, Werhane ML, Thomas KR, et al. Cerebral blood flow and amyloid- β interact to affect memory performance in cognitively

normal older adults. 2017;9:1–14.

- 289. Ding B, Ling HW, Zhang Y, Huang J, Zhang H, Wang T, et al. Pattern of cerebral hyperperfusion in Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment using voxel-based analysis of 3D arterial spin-labeling imaging: Initial experience. Clin Interv Aging. 2014;9:493–500.
- 290. Hauser T, Schönknecht P, Thomann PA, Gerigk L, Schröder J, Henze R, et al. Regional cerebral perfusion alterations in patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease using dynamic susceptibility contrast MRI. Acad Radiol. 2013;20:705–711.
- 291. Kaneta T, Katsuse O, Hirano T, Ogawa M, Yoshida K, Odawara T, et al. Head-to-head visual comparison between brain perfusion SPECT and arterial spin-labeling MRI with different postlabeling delays in Alzheimer disease. Am J Neuroradiol. 2017;38:1562– 1568.
- 292. Mitchell T, Mufson E, Schneider J, Cochran E, Nissanov J, Han L-Y. Parahippocampal tau pathology in healthy aging, mild cognitive impairment, and early Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol. 2002;51:182–189.
- 293. Guillozet A, Weintraub S, Mash D, Mesulam M. Neurofibrillary tangles, amyloid, and memory in aging and mild cognitive impairment. Arch Neurol. 2003;60:729–736.
- 294. Firbank M, He J, Blamire A, Singh B, Danson P, Kalaria R, et al. Cerebral blood flow by arterial spin labeling in poststroke dementia. Neurology. 2011;76:1478–1484.
- 295. Beason-Held LL, Moghekar A, Zonderman A. Longitudinal changes in cerebral blood flow in the older hypertensive brain. Stroke. 2007;38:1766–1773.
- 296. Canto C, Wouterlood F, Witter M. What does the anatomical organization of the entorhinal cortex tell us? Neural Plast. 2008;2008:381243.

- 297. Leech R, Braga R, Sharp D. Echoes of the Brain within the Posterior Cingulate Cortex. J Neurosci. 2012;32:215–222.
- 298. Yusuf S, Rangarajan S, Teo K, et al. Cardiovascular risk and events in 17 low-, middle-, and high-income countries. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:818–827.
- 299. Chui H, Zheng L, Reed B, Vinters H, Mack W. Vascular risk factors and Alzheimer's disease: Are these risk factors for plaques and tangles or for concomitant vascular pathology that increases the likelihood of dementia? An evidence-based review. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2012;4:1.
- Love S, Miners J. Cerebrovascular disease in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131:645–658.
- Miners J, Palmer J, Tayler H, Palmer L, Ashby E, Kehoe P, et al. Abeta degradation or cerebral perfusion? Divergent effects of multifunctional enzymes. Front Aging Neurosci. 2014;6:238.
- 302. Brodaty H, Mothakunnel A, de Vel-Palumbo M, Ames D, Ellis K, Reppermund S, et al. Influence of population versus convenience sampling on sample characteristics in studies of cognitive aging. Ann Epidemiol. 2014;24:63–71.
- 303. Dixon R, Wahlin A, Maitland S, Hultsch D, Hertzhog C, Backman L. Episodic memory change in late adulthood: generalizability across samples and performance indices. Mem Cogn. 2004;32:768–778.
- 304. Ganguli M, Lytle M, Reynolds M, Dodge H. Random versus volunteer selection for a community-based study. J Gerontol A Bio Sci Med Sci. 1998;53:M39–46.
- 305. Whitwell J, Wiste H, Weigand S, Rocca W, Knopman D, Roberts R. Comparison of imaging biomarkers in the Alzheimer Disease Neuroimaging Initiative and the Mayo

Clinic Study of Aging. Arch Neurol. 2012;69:614–623.

- 306. Hultsch D, MacDonald S, Hunter M, Maitland S, Dixon R. Sampling and generalisability in developmental research: comparison of random and convenience samples of older adults. Int J Behav Dev. 2002;26:345–359.
- 307. Reeves M, Lisabeth L. The confounding issue of sex and stroke. Neurology. 2010;74:947–948.
- 308. Renoux C, Cloulombe J, Li L, Ganesh A, Silver L, Rothwell P. Confounding by premorbid functional status in studies of apparent sex differences in severity and outcome of stroke. Stroke. 2017;48:2731–2738.
- 309. Heart and Stroke Foundation. Stroke Report: 2018. 2018.
- 310. Weuve J, Proust-Lima C, Power M, Gross A, Hofer S, Thiebaut R, et al. Guidelines for reporting methodological challenges and evaluating potential bias in dementia research. Alzhiemers Dement. 2015;11:1098–1109.
- 311. Sachdev P, Lipnicki D, Crawford J, Wen W, Brodaty H. Progression of cognitive impairment in stroke/TIA patients over 3 years. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85:1324–1330.
- 312. Ritchie K, Ropacki M, Albala B. Recommended cognitive outcomes in preclinical Alzheimer's disease: Consensus statement from the European Prevention of Alzheimer's Dementia Project. Alzheimer's Dement J Alzheimer's Assoc. 2017;13:186–195.

APPENDIX A: COPYRIGHT PERMISSION

Chapter 2:

As a co-author of the manuscript entitled "Longitudinal Study of Cognition and Brain Atrophy Rates in Transient Ischemic Attack Patients", I permit Meaghan Reid to use this manuscript in her final thesis.

Signed via e-mail: Noaah Reaume, Pauline Wu, Alex Pan, Arooj Aftab, Rani Gupta Sah, Meng Wang, Richard Frayne, Shelagh B. Coutts, Tolulope T. Sajobi, Richard Stewart Longman, Christopher D. d'Esterre, Philip A. Barber.

Chapter 3:

As a co-author of the manuscript entitled "The Association of Arterial Spin Labelling-MRI Cerebral Blood Flow in Transient Ischemic Attack Patients and Cognition", I permit Meaghan Reid to use this manuscript in her final thesis.

Signed via e-mail: Connor McDougall, Noaah Reaume, Rani Gupta Sah, Meng Wang, Richard Frayne, Shelagh B. Coutts, Tolulope T. Sajobi, Richard Stewart Longman, Christopher D. d'Esterre, Philip A. Barber.

Sana Tariq provided email consent to use modified Table 1-1 and 1-2.